# AMENDMENT NO. 12 TO COMPREHENSIVE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

#### NORTH TARRANT EXPRESS SEGMENTS 1&2W FACILITY

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 12 TO COMPREHENSIVE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ("Amendment") is entered into and effective as of April 36, 2018 between the Texas Department of Transportation, a public agency of the State of Texas ("TxDOT"), and NTE Mobility Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Developer"), with reference to the following facts:

#### RECITALS

- A. TxDOT and Developer entered into a Comprehensive Development Agreement for North Tarrant Express Facility, dated as of June 23, 2009 (as amended, supplemented and/or otherwise modified from time to time prior to the date hereof, the "CDA"), together with related agreements and amendments collectively referred to in the CDA as the "CDA Documents".
- B. The CDA grants to Developer the option to designate TxDOT as Developer's agent for the purpose of performing NTTA's customer service and other toll collection and enforcement services if specified terms and conditions are satisfied. The CDA requires TxDOT to enter into a tolling services agreement, in the form of <a href="Exhibit 23">Exhibit 23</a> to the CDA, and to commence provision of such toll collection and enforcement services to Developer within five Business Days after TxDOT receives from Developer (1) written notice requesting such services and affirmatively stating that Developer has the right to step in under or terminate the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, and (2) correspondence, documents and other evidence establishing Developer's right to step in or terminate, including factual evidence that the circumstances under which such action may be taken have occurred, and (3) two sets of a fully executed TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement.
- C. One of the conditions precedent to TxDOT's obligation to enter into such tolling services agreement, to provide toll collection and enforcement services, and to remit payments in respect of toll transactions is that Developer and the North Texas Tollway Authority ("NTTA") have prepared a transition plan, consistent with TxDOT's systems and procedures, for the potential transitioning of tolling services for the Facility from NTTA to TxDOT.
- D. TxDOT and Developer desire to set forth the terms and conditions for preparation and implementation of a mutually acceptable transition plan and for revising the five-Business Day transition period.
- NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, TxDOT and Developer agree as follows:
- 1. <u>Definitions</u>. All capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment have the respective meanings set forth in the CDA. In addition, the following terms have the following meanings:

Cessation of Operations means an NTTA decision to cease all transaction processing and customer service operations either entirely or for all projects not owned by NTTA.

**Collateral Account Trustee** means Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee, or its permitted successor or assign.

**Cutover Deadline** has the meaning set forth in the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, currently five Business Days under <u>Sections 8.7.5.3 and 8.7.6.3</u> of the CDA.

**Direct Agreement** means that certain Direct Agreement Regarding Transition Planning for IH 635 LBJ Express and North Tarrant Express Segments 1&2W Projects, dated on or about the date hereof, by and between TxDOT and NTTA.

**Exercise Date** means the date Developer properly exercises its option to transfer tolling services to TxDOT pursuant to <u>Section 8.7.5.1 or 8.7.6.1</u> of the CDA.

**Implementation Cost Payment** has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 6</u> of this Amendment.

Implementation Costs means all costs incurred by TxDOT up to the Transition Plan Effective Date related to developing, modifying, testing and implementing TxDOT's toll collection back office system to enable a five-Business Day New Cutover Deadline, including TxDOT's costs of testing systems and procedures. Without limiting the foregoing, Implementation Costs include the cost of work and services of Xerox or other vendor for TxDOT's Toll Operations Division, as well as TxDOT's general engineering consultant, directly related to developing, modifying, testing, and implementing TxDOT's toll collection back office system prior to the Transition Plan Effective Date. Implementation Costs are distinguished and separate from costs related to the communications lines, protocols and procedures described in Section 12(c) of the TxDOT Tolling Service Agreement.

**Joinder Agreement** means that certain Amended and Restated Joinder Agreement, dated on or about the date hereof, by and among TxDOT, NTTA, Developer and the Collateral Account Trustee.

**New Cutover Deadline** means the revised cutover deadline for TxDOT to commence tolling services and processing of Transactions under the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, determined in accordance with <u>Sections 4(a)</u>, (b) and (c) of this Amendment.

NTTA Tolling Services Agreement has the meaning set forth in the CDA, as amended and supplemented with TxDOT's approval, including by the Performance Security Agreement.

**Performance Security Agreement** means an Agreement Regarding NTE 1&2W TSA Transition Planning, Performance Security and Amendments between Developer and NTTA dated on or about the date hereof.

**Transition Plan Effective Date** means January 1, 2019, subject to extension at TxDOT's option on the terms and conditions set forth in <u>Section 3</u> of this Amendment.

**Trust Agreement** means a Master Cash Collateral Trust Agreement dated as of February 1, 2014 among TxDOT, NTTA and the Collateral Account Trustee, as amended and restated by an Amended and Restated Master Cash Collateral Trust Agreement among the same parties dated on or about the date hereof.

#### 2. Transition Plan

- (a) TxDOT and Developer shall diligently and in good faith cooperate and work with each other and NTTA to develop and implement, no later than January 1, 2019, a mutually acceptable transition plan for transitioning tolling services from NTTA to TxDOT in the event Developer validly exercises its option under <u>Section 8.7.5.1 or 8.7.6.1</u> of the CDA. It is intended that the transition plan be substantively identical to the transition plan to be adopted for the IH 635 Managed Lanes Project.
- (b) The transition plan shall be designed to effect a smooth and rapid transition of tolling service responsibilities from NTTA to TxDOT on the New Cutover Deadline, and smooth and effective transmission of tolling data from Developer to TxDOT's CSC Host from and after the New Cutover Deadline.
- (c) The transition plan shall remain in place from and after the Transition Plan Effective Date for the duration of the CDA, subject to any modifications TxDOT, Developer and NTTA may mutually approve from time to time.
- (d) The transition plan is not intended to be based on the SH 130, Segments 5&6 model or any prior draft tolling transition plan proposed by Developer or NTTA. Developer recognizes and acknowledges that in order to achieve the foregoing objective, the transition plan will (i) require TxDOT to make material changes to its systems, protocols and procedures, including for compatibility with the current version of the "Service Provider to Subscriber Interface Control Document" utilized by TxDOT at the time leading up to the Transition Plan Effective Date, and (ii) require a significant amount of work to implement and test the changes to TxDOT's systems, protocols and procedures before January 1, 2019.
- As an integral part of Developer's compliance with Section 12(c) of the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, the transition plan shall include requirements for (i) Developer to provide and test, prior to the Transition Plan Effective Date, a temporary communications connection with TxDOT to adequately and sufficiently guarantee secure connectivity between the Electronic Toll Collection System and TxDOT's CSC Host, (ii) Developer to conduct. in cooperation with TxDOT, periodic re-testing, no less frequently than once every two years after the Transition Plan Effective Date, of the communications connection, protocols and procedures, and (iii) Developer to replace the temporary communications connection within six months after the New Cutover Deadline with a dedicated, direct communications line or some other secure, commercially reasonable alternative based on then-existing technology, with sufficient capacity to provide uninterrupted transmission of data. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of the transition plan, nothing in the transition plan, and no TxDOT approval in or pursuant to the transition plan of Developer's communications connections, lines, protocols and procedures, shall be construed to change, exonerate or waive Developer's responsibilities and risks regarding the communications connections, lines, protocols and procedures set forth in Section 12(c) of the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement.
- (f) The protocols, procedures and terms of the transition plan shall include, in addition to those described in <u>Section 3(c)</u> of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, those for switchover involving the cessation of Developer's transmission of Transaction data to, and receipt of such Transaction data by, NTTA's CSC Host and the commencement of the transmission of such Transaction data by Developer to TxDOT (including compliance with the protocols and procedures developed and implemented pursuant to <u>Section 12(c)</u> of the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement and such other actions as are reasonably required to be taken in

connection with the cessation of NTTA's provision of services under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement).

- (g) The transition plan and New Cutover Deadline shall not apply where transition of tolling services from NTTA to TxDOT is required due to NTTA's Cessation of Operations. In such an event:
- (i) TxDOT, Developer and NTTA shall develop and implement, at NTTA's expense, a plan for a phased, orderly transition of tolling services on all affected TxDOT-owned projects according to a schedule that is practicable for TxDOT and does not expose Developer to any gap in the provision of back office tolling services for the Facility or in Transaction processing, as part of a much larger NTTA operations transition plan, but which schedule shall require the transition of all such tolling services from NTTA by no later than 12 months after NTTA's Cessation of Operations;
- (ii) Prior to executing the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT and Developer shall revise on mutually agreeable terms its provisions relating to the commencement of services thereunder as necessary to make it consistent with the timing for such transition of tolling services; and
- (iii) The TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement will be entered into pursuant to Section 8.7.6 of the CDA.
- The transition plan and New Cutover Deadline shall not apply where transition of (h) tolling services from NTTA to TxDOT is required due to either Developer's or NTTA's election to terminate the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement prior to expiration of the full term thereof as provided in <u>Section 21</u> of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, except where Developer elects to terminate pursuant to Section 21(e)(i) of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement (i.e., for a reason that entitles it to exercise step-in rights under Section 19(d) of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement). In such case, TxDOT will be ready and able to commence provision of customer service and other toll collection and enforcement services for Developer within six months after receiving notice requesting TxDOT's services. NTTA, Developer and TxDOT may elect, however, to use the transition plan as a guide for effecting the transition of tolling services in such circumstances. If such a termination of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement occurs, then prior to executing the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT and Developer shall revise on mutually agreeable terms its provisions relating to the commencement of services thereunder as necessary to make it consistent with the timing for such transition of tolling services.
- 3. Options to Extend Transition Plan Effective Date. TxDOT shall have, and Developer hereby agrees to, successive options for TxDOT to extend the Transition Plan Effective Date if any pre-Exercise Date implementation efforts and testing required under the transition plan have not been completed to TxDOT's reasonable satisfaction by January 1, 2019, on and subject to the following terms and conditions.
  - (a) In order to effectively exercise an option, TxDOT shall deliver:
- (i) To Developer, not later than 30 days before the Transition Plan Effective Date, as it may have been previously extended, written notice (A) stating that TxDOT has elected to exercise the option, (B) stating the period of the extension elected by TxDOT, (C) stating an interim New Cutover Deadline as selected by TxDOT, in any event not to exceed four

months measured from the date Developer could validly exercise its option to transition tolling services to TxDOT in accordance with <u>Section 8.7.5.1 or 8.7.6.1</u> of the CDA, and (D) stating that TxDOT has delivered, on or before the date of the notice, additional performance security for NTTA's obligations under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, in the form and amount required by clause (ii) below or, to the extent authorized by law, in the form and amount required by clause (iii) below, as applicable; and

(ii) If the additional performance security is cash collateral, to the Collateral Account Trustee good funds for immediate deposit into the Master Account and transfer therefrom to the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account, also referred to as the NTE TSA Sub-Account, maintained by the Collateral Account Trustee under the Trust Agreement, in an amount equal to:

$$0.1 \times RPSA_{2019} \times Days_{INCD} - NTTA$$
\$

Where:

 $RPSA_{2019}$  = the Required Performance Security Amount for the 2019 Service Year, as set forth in the Joinder Agreement;

 $Days_{INCD}$  = Number of calendar days to the interim New Cutover Deadline designated by TxDOT, measured from the date Developer could validly exercise its option to transition tolling services to TxDOT in accordance with Section 8.7.5.1 or 8.7.6.1 of the CDA; and

NTTA \$ = 102% of the total amount of cash collateral performance security required to be on deposit in the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account for the Facility for the 2018 Service Year, prior to any deposit by TxDOT but after any transfer of cash collateral under the Trust Agreement into the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account for the Facility pursuant to Section 3(b) of Amendment No. 13 to Comprehensive Development Agreement between TxDOT and LBJ Infrastructure Group LLC dated on or about the date hereof; or

- (iii) If the additional performance security is a letter of credit, to Developer an irrevocable standby letter of credit, that (A) is issued by a financial institution with a credit rating of "A" or better according to Standard & Poor's, (B) is in an amount determined as provided in clause (ii) above, (C) has an expiration date no earlier than the last day of the extension period, (D) names Developer as payee, (E) allows for multiple draws, and (F) is payable immediately, conditioned only on written presentment from Developer to the issuer stating that (I) the conditions exist entitling Developer to draw on the letter of credit in accordance with the terms of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement and (II) Developer, having first drawn or withdrawn all other performance security provided by NTTA under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, remains entitled to further payment in at least the amount of the draw presented.
- (b) TxDOT may, at its option, provide a combination of the foregoing performance security to the extent authorized by law.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if there is a delay beyond January 1, 2019 in completing to TxDOT's reasonable satisfaction the pre-Exercise Date implementation efforts and testing required under the transition plan, then the number of days of such delay attributable to a failure of Developer to diligently and in good faith cooperate and work with

TxDOT in either developing the transition plan or implementing and testing the changes to TxDOT's systems, protocols and procedures contemplated by the transition plan, if any, shall be subtracted from the  $Days_{INCD}$  when calculating the additional performance security required to be delivered by TxDOT during the period of extension of the Transition Plan Effective Date selected by TxDOT.

- (d) TxDOT may exercise multiple options to extend the Transition Plan Effective Date, provided that the aggregate period of extension shall not exceed one year plus the number of days described in clause (c) above, if any. If TxDOT has previously provided cash collateral for an extension, TxDOT shall be credited with such cash collateral and earnings thereon for the next extension, except for any portion thereof properly and previously withdrawn by Developer. If TxDOT has previously provided a letter of credit, TxDOT shall have the right to deliver an amendment or update of the existing letter of credit as necessary to meet the required expiry date and required amount for the option currently being exercised.
- (e) If TxDOT provides performance security pursuant to exercise of an option to extend, Developer shall not resort to such performance security unless and until it has exhausted all performance security provided by NTTA with respect to the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement.
- (f) Upon the earlier to occur of (i) the Transition Plan Effective Date, as extended by TxDOT, or (ii) the commencement of services by TxDOT under the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement (should Developer properly exercise an option under Section 8.7.5.1 or 8.7.6.1 of the CDA prior to the extended Transition Plan Effective Date), TxDOT shall be entitled to return of all unexpended performance security, without delay. If TxDOT has deposited cash collateral with the Collateral Account Trustee with respect to the Facility, then Developer shall promptly execute, upon request, such notices and certificates as may be required under the Trust Agreement for the Collateral Account Trustee to deliver to TxDOT all such cash collateral, plus earnings thereon, less any portion thereof properly previously withdrawn by Developer.
- (g) If Developer resorts to any performance security provided by TxDOT, TxDOT shall automatically be subrogated to all claims Developer may have against NTTA arising out of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, to the extent of the amount drawn on or withdrawn from TxDOT's performance security.
- (h) If Developer properly exercises an option under <u>Section 8.7.5.1 or 8.7.6.1</u> of the CDA prior to the extended Transition Plan Effective Date, then prior to executing the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement TxDOT and Developer shall revise the Cutover Deadline thereunder to be consistent with the interim New Cutover Deadline selected by TxDOT or any shorter period TxDOT may designate in its sole discretion.
- (i) If and each time TxDOT exercises an option to extend the Transition Plan Effective Date, TxDOT and Developer, together with NTTA, shall execute and deliver to the Collateral Account Trustee a joint certificate setting forth the amount required to be on deposit in the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account for such period; provided that delivery of such joint certificate shall not be a condition precedent or condition subsequent to TxDOT's valid exercise of its option to extend the Transition Plan Effective Date.
- 4. <u>Transition Period and Tolls Due under Transition Plan</u>. If TxDOT becomes obligated under <u>Section 8.7.5 or 8.7.6</u> of the CDA to assume provision of customer service and other toll collection and enforcement services to Developer at a time after the Transition Plan Effective Date, then the following provisions shall apply, and <u>Sections 8.7.5 and 8.7.6</u> of the CDA, and

the Cutover Deadline, shall be deemed revised to the extent, and only to the extent, necessary to be consistent with the following provisions.

- (a) The five Business Day period set forth in <u>Sections 8.7.5 and 8.7.6</u> of the CDA and the Cutover Deadline shall be deemed replaced with the New Cutover Deadline. Subject to subsections (b), (c) and (d) below, the New Cutover Deadline on and after the Transition Plan Effective Date shall be five Business Days after the Exercise Date.
- (b) TxDOT shall have the option to extend the New Cutover Deadline on the following terms and conditions:
- (i) In order to exercise such option, TxDOT shall deliver to the Collateral Account Trustee a written Certificate, and to Developer and NTTA a copy of such Certificate, directing the Collateral Account Trustee to immediately transfer available funds from the Master Account under the Trust Agreement to the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account in an amount equal to:

 $0.1 \times RPSA \times Days_{EXT}$ 

#### Where:

*RPSA* = the Required Performance Security Amount for the Service Year in which the extended New Cutover Deadline will occur, as set forth in the Joinder Agreement; and

 $Days_{EXT}$  = The number of additional calendar days by which TxDOT elects to extend the New Cutover Deadline;

- (ii) Exercise of such option shall only be effective if TxDOT delivers the written Certificate to the Collateral Account Trustee, Developer and NTTA on or at any time before the date that is three Business Days after the Exercise Date, and the relevant funds are actually transferred to the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account. For clarity, TxDOT may exercise such right and option regardless of whether there has occurred any default or other event entitling Developer to exercise step-in or termination rights under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement;
- (iii) For purposes of determining available funds in the Master Account, no funds on deposit in the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account or the comparable sub-account for the IH 635 Managed Lanes Project prior to exercise of the option shall be treated as available funds; and
- (iv) If TxDOT timely exercises its option, then the New Cutover Deadline shall be automatically extended by  $Days_{EXT}$ , provided that in no event shall the total period of extension (A) result in a New Cutover Deadline later than 21 calendar days after the Exercise Date or (B) exceed the number of days equal to the quotient determined by dividing (x) the available funds in the Master Account by (y)  $(0.1 \times RPSA)$ , rounded down to the nearest whole number.
- (c) Developer shall deliver to TxDOT written notice of (i) any failure of NTTA under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement where the failure may entitle Developer to draw upon performance security, to be delivered not later than the same date Developer gives notice to

NTTA of such failure, (ii) any draw on performance security under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, to be delivered not later than the same date Developer makes the draw, and (iii) any NTTA default that Developer declares under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement where the default may entitle Developer to exercise step-in or termination rights thereunder, to be delivered not later than the same date Developer declares the default. subsequently exercises its right under Section 8.7.5 or 8.7.6 of the CDA in connection with such NTTA failure, draw on performance security or NTTA default, as the case may be, then the New Cutover Deadline shall be extended by one day for each day between the date upon which Developer delivers notice of such NTTA failure, the date of a draw on performance security or the date Developer declares an NTTA default, as applicable, and the subsequent date TxDOT receives written notice thereof, provided that if the actual Exercise Date is no earlier than five Business Days after the date TxDOT receives written notice of Developer's draw on the performance security, and no earlier than eight Business Days after the date TxDOT receives written notice of an NTTA failure that may entitle Developer to draw upon performance security, then the New Cutover Deadline shall not be extended due to delay in TxDOT's receipt of such written notices. The provisions of this subsection (c) also shall apply during any period of an extension of the Transition Plan Effective Date pursuant to Section 3 of this Amendment.

- (d) TxDOT will be obligated to commence provision of toll collection and enforcement services under the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement on the New Cutover Deadline, provided that Developer timely performs in all material respects the actions required of itunder the transition plan.
- (e) Developer may deliver to TxDOT, and TxDOT will accept, Transaction data starting on the New Cutover Deadline, limited only to Transactions that occur on or after the New Cutover Deadline except as provided in <u>Section 4(g)</u> of this Amendment, provided that Developer timely performs in all material respects the actions required of it under the transition plan.
- (f) For Transactions that occur on or after the New Cutover Deadline with Candidate Vehicles that are not Exempt Vehicles, TxDOT will be obligated to pay to the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement 100% of the corresponding toll revenues (which do not include Incidental Charges), less TxDOT's fees and adjustments under Section 6 of the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement. Payment shall be due for such Transactions as and when provided in Sections 7(a) and (b) of the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, except that the payment due date shall be extended as provided in Section 7(e) of the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement for Transactions that occur within 60 days after the New Cutover Deadline.
- (g) Starting on the 11<sup>th</sup> day after the New Cutover Deadline, Developer may deliver to TxDOT, and TxDOT will accept, Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions as defined in and subject to the provisions of the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement.
- (h) Transactions properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD on a non-Business Day shall be deemed to be first transmitted on the next Business Day.
- 5. <u>Exhibit 23 to CDA</u>. <u>Exhibit 23</u> to the CDA, the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, shall be automatically amended and restated, as of the Transition Plan Effective Date (without any further action of the parties hereto), to be in the form provided in <u>Attachment A</u> to this Amendment. From and after the Transition Plan Effective Date, all references in the CDA and any amendments thereto, including this Amendment, to the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement, shall mean the form thereof in <u>Attachment A</u> to this Amendment.

#### 6. Reimbursement of TxDOT's Implementation Costs.

- (a) Under the Direct Agreement, NTTA has agreed to pay directly to TxDOT the amount of \$2,000,000 to cover its and Developer's share of any and all Implementation Costs (the "Implementation Cost Payment"). Contingent upon payment of the Implementation Cost Payment, and in return for the Implementation Cost Payment, TxDOT agrees not to seek any additional payment from Developer for Implementation Costs, and, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, hereby releases Developer from any further obligation under this Amendment, the CDA, the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, the Performance Security Agreement, or any other agreement to which TxDOT is a party to pay for any Implementation Costs. To the extent the Implementation Cost Payment exceeds the actual Implementation Costs, TxDOT shall have no obligation to refund such excess to Developer, and Developer shall have no right to apply such excess as an offset against any other obligation it may owe to TxDOT.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Section 6(a)</u> of this Amendment, the foregoing provisions are in addition to, and do not supersede, any other provisions allocating responsibility for costs pertaining to transition of tolling services set forth in the CDA or the TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement.
- 7. <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. Each of TxDOT and Developer represents and warrants to the other, as of the Effective Date of this Amendment (as set forth in <u>Section 12</u> below), that:
- (a) It is duly organized and validly existing and has all requisite power and authority to conduct its business as now being conducted;
- (b) It has full power and authority to enter into, execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform fully its obligations hereunder;
- (c) It has taken all action required by any statute, law, code, regulation, or other state or federal legislative, executive or administrative requirement or by its charter, by-laws or other organizational documents to authorize the execution and delivery of and performance of its obligations under this Amendment;
- (d) It has duly, validly and properly executed and delivered this Amendment, and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery hereof by the other party, this Amendment constitutes its valid and binding legal obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject only to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting the enforceability of the rights of creditors generally and general principles of equity;
- (e) The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment, and the transactions contemplated hereby, do not and will not:
- (i) Conflict with or result in any violation of or constitute a breach or default under any provision of (A) any statute, law, code, regulation, or other state or federal legislative, executive or administrative requirement generally applicable to the transactions contemplated hereby, other than any violation, breach or default that would not have a material adverse effect on the transactions contemplated hereby or (B) any of the charter, by-laws or other organizational documents applicable to or governing its creation and existence;
- (ii) Violate, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or constitute a default (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) under, or permit the termination of, or

require any notice under, or require the consent of any other party to, any note, bond, indenture, license, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which it is a party; or

- (iii) Violate any judgment or court order to which it or any of its assets is bound or subject; and
- (f) No notice to and no permit, authorization, consent or approval of any governmental entity or other person or entity is necessary for its performance of its obligations under this Amendment.
- 8. <u>Complete Agreement</u>. This Amendment sets forth the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any prior agreement and contemporaneous oral agreements of the Parties concerning its subject matter; provided that this Amendment does not supersede the Performance Security Agreement or the Joinder Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, this Amendment supersedes any provision of the CDA that conflicts or is inconsistent with this Amendment.
- 9. <u>Effectiveness of CDA Documents.</u> Except as specifically amended hereby, the provisions of the CDA Documents (including all prior written amendments thereto) are hereby confirmed and remain in full force and effect without change.
- 10. <u>Binding Effect of Amendment</u>. This Amendment is entered into pursuant to <u>Section 24.3</u> of the CDA. For the avoidance of doubt, this Amendment shall constitute a CDA Document, including for purposes of <u>Section 24.13</u> of the CDA.
- 11. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Amendment may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be fully effective as an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
- 12. <u>Conditions to Effectiveness</u>. This Amendment shall become effective on the date (the "Effective Date") upon which:
- (a) The respective parties thereto have executed and delivered (i) this Amendment, (ii) a comparable amendment to the comprehensive development agreement for the IH 635 Managed Lanes Project, (iii) the Performance Security Agreement, (iv) a comparable performance security agreement with respect to the IH 635 Managed Lanes Project, (v) the Joinder Agreement, (vi) a comparable joinder agreement with respect to the IH 635 Managed Lanes Project, (viii) the Direct Agreement, and (viii) the Amended and Restated Master Cash Collateral Trust Agreement (referred to in the definition of Trust Agreement);
- (b) TxDOT has received from NTTA the Implementation Cost Payment in good funds; and
- (c) The total amount on deposit in the Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account shall equal at least the Required Performance Security Amount for 2018, as contemplated in <u>Section 16(a)(i)</u> of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement (after giving effect to the amendments thereto contemplated by the Performance Security Agreement).

[Signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

Developer	TxDOT
NTE MOBILITY PARTNERS LLC	TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Ву:	By: James M Bress Name: James Bass
Name: Alberto Gonzalez Lalueza Title: Chief Executive Officer	Name: James Bass Title: Executive Director

#### **ATTACHMENT A**

#### Exhibit 23 to CDA

#### Form of TxDOT Tolling Services Agreement

# TOLLING SERVICES AGREEMENT SEGMENT 1 AND SUBSEGMENTS A, B, AND C OF

# NORTH TARRANT EXPRESS PROJECT

### Between

# TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION and

# NTE MOBILITY PARTNERS LLC

Dated	, 20
Dated	, 20

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

		Page
1.	Definitions and Interpretation	1
2.	Engagement and General Statement of Responsibilities	2
3.	Term; Transition of Services	5
4.	Toll Collection and Enforcement Services	6
5.	Financial Interoperability Functions and Terms	13
6.	Compensation for Services	13
7.	Toll Transaction Payments to Developer	20
8.	Video Transactions	23
9.	Transponder Transactions	25
10.	No Duty to Enforce, Collect or Pay	26
11.	Overcharges; Credits to Account Holders	27
12.	System Technology Interface; Interoperability	28
13.	Intellectual Property and Licensing; Promotional Plan	31
14.	Reports; Developer Protection of Patron Confidential Information	32
15.	Records and Audit Rights	33
16.	Pre-Transition Transactions	35
17.	Change Orders and Change Directives	36
18.	Representations and Warranties; Covenant Regarding Developer Existence and G	
19.	Default and Remedies	42
20.	Dispute Resolution	48
21.	[RESERVED]	49
22.	Malfunction, Damage or Destruction of TxDOT Facilities	49
23.	Assignment; New Tolling Services Agreement	51
24.	Special Provisions for Compliance with Agreement	52

25.	Labor Practices 53		
26.	Designation of Authorized Representatives53		
27.	7. Notices54		
28.	Amendment		
29.	Independent Engineer		
30.	Non-Disparagement 56		
31.	Governing Law56		
32.	Interpretation		
33.	Counterparts		
Attach	nments		
Attach	ment 1 Definitions		
Attach	ment 2 Performance Standards and Non-Compliance Points		
Attach	ment 3 Interface Control Document		
Attach	ment 4 List of Transponder Models Establishing Benchmark Transponder Performance		
Attach	ment 5 [Reserved]		
Attach	ment 6 [Reserved]		
Attachment 7 Initial Designation of Authorized Representatives			
Attach	ment 8 Example of Calculation of Delinquent Payment Deduction		

Attachment 9 Example of Calculation of Non-Compliance Deduction

#### **TOLLING SERVICES AGREEMENT**

THIS TOLLING SERVICES AGREEMENT (the "Tolling Services Agreement") is entered into and effective as of, 20 by and between the Texas Department of Transportation a public agency of the State of Texas ("TxDOT"), and NTE Mobility Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Developer"), with reference to the following facts.			
RECITALS			
A. On June 23, 2009, the Texas Department of Transportation ("TxDOT") and Develope entered into a Comprehensive Development Agreement (the "Agreement") to design, permit construct and/or reconstruct, finance, operate and maintain (Segment 1 and Subsegments A, B and C of the North Tarrant Express Facility (with such Segment 1 and Subsegments A, B, and C of the North Tarrant Express Facility being referred to herein as the Facility ("Facility") consisting of the construction and/or reconstruction of general purpose lanes, managed lanes railroad improvements, frontage roads, crossing streets and utility adjustments, and the establishment of tolling operations and maintenance and operation of the Facility in Tarran County, Texas.			
B. Pursuant to the Agreement, Developer has the right and obligation to, among other things, impose, collect and enforce tolls for use of the Facility by means of an Electronic Toll Collection System.			
C. Developer entered into a Tolling Services Agreement with North Texas Tollway Authority ("NTTA") pursuant to the Agreement, for NTTA to provide certain toll collection, enforcement and interoperability functions and services for the Facility.			
D. Pursuant to <u>Sections 8.7.5 and 8.7.6</u> of the Agreement, TxDOT agreed to provide such toll collection, enforcement, and interoperability functions and services to the Facility if the conditions and/ or circumstances set forth therein were to occur.			
E. On, 20 Developer exercised its option pursuant to <u>Section 8.7</u> of the Agreement with regard to such toll collection, enforcement and interoperability functions and services for the Facility. TxDOT is willing to provide such services for Developer on and subject			

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations set forth in this Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT and Developer agree as follows:

#### 1. Definitions and Interpretation

to the terms and conditions of this Tolling Services Agreement.

- (a) Certain terms used herein have the respective definitions set forth in <u>Attachment 1</u> to this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (b) Other capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the respective meanings set forth in the Agreement.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, any reference made in this Tolling Services Agreement to the practices and procedures that TxDOT follows in respect of its own facilities in respect of the standards or type of services to be provided pursuant to this Tolling Services Agreement shall be

deemed to include at a minimum performance at a level which is consistent with the practices and procedures of TxDOT at the time of execution of this Tolling Services Agreement, and with the Performance Standards under or other requirements of this Tolling Services Agreement.

#### 2. Engagement and General Statement of Responsibilities

Developer hereby engages TxDOT to provide the services described herein during the Term (as defined herein), and TxDOT hereby accepts such engagement. The Parties' general responsibilities under this Tolling Services Agreement include the following (with the following general description to be without limitation on the parties' respective other responsibilities and obligations provided for pursuant to the other terms and conditions of this Tolling Services Agreement):

- (a) Developer's general responsibilities include:
  - (i) Developer shall install, replace and maintain in good condition throughout the Term equipment that complies with the requirements of the Agreement and that will identify vehicles equipped with a transponder issued by TxDOT (either directly by TxDOT or through a TxDOT-approved distributor) or another Toll Operator and video equipment and related lane controller equipment designed to capture video images of and/or data concerning vehicles passing through tolling stations as required by the Interface Control Document.
  - Developer shall be responsible for capturing data evidencing each (ii) Transponder Transaction and Video Transaction and transmitting a properly formed Transaction to TxDOT (which will include all of the information required by the ICD for each such Transaction) in accordance with this Tolling Services Agreement pursuant to the ICD or any other communications protocols in effect hereunder from time to time. Without limiting the foregoing, Developer shall be responsible for (A) determining the applicable toll for each Transaction and transmitting the applicable toll information to TxDOT with its transmittal of other Transaction data pursuant to the preceding sentence, and (B) conducting all video image reviews and Transaction matching required to determine Video Transactions. TxDOT shall not have any responsibility for any of the activities described above in this paragraph (ii). Responsibility for enforcement of high occupancy vehicle rules and requirements is exclusively governed by the Agreement.
  - (iii) Developer shall be responsible for all interoperable fees, the cost of which shall be paid in accordance with the applicable interoperability interlocal agreement.
  - (iv) Developer shall be responsible for providing reasonably detailed information to TxDOT from time to time for purposes of training TxDOT's customer service personnel adequately to respond to customer inquiries concerning Developer's dynamic or other toll pricing models.

- (v) Developer shall not issue any transponders to or impose any tolls on Users in connection with the Facility other than as permitted or contemplated by this Tolling Services Agreement, and Developer otherwise shall not take any actions in competition with the rights and responsibilities of TxDOT hereunder (provided, however, that the foregoing shall not preclude Developer from marketing activities, from distributing TxDOT-issued transponders on its own premises in its capacity as a distributor of TxDOT, from exercising rights and remedies expressly provided to Developer hereunder in respect of this Tolling Services Agreement or in the Agreement in respect of the Agreement, and activities of Developer or any of its affiliates in connection with other toll roads).
- (b) TxDOT's general responsibilities include:
  - (i) TxDOT shall post Transponder Transactions to customer accounts in accordance with Section 4(a)(iv) hereof.
  - (ii) TxDOT shall provide Interoperability Functions in accordance with Section 5 hereof.
  - (iii) TxDOT shall process Video Transactions in accordance with <u>Section 8</u> hereof.
  - (iv) TxDOT shall remit payments to Developer in respect of Video Transactions and Transponder Transactions in accordance with Section 7 hereof.
  - (v) TxDOT shall utilize and make available its Customer Service Center services for handling of customer inquiries and complaints, as provided in Section 4(a)(i) hereof.
  - (vi) TxDOT shall provide account management and other back office services in accordance with this Tolling Services Agreement, including Section 4(a) hereof.
  - TxDOT shall provide toll collection enforcement services, which shall (vii) include transmittal of violation notices, collection efforts (including, at TxDOT's option, utilization of a third party collection agency) and other actions permitted by applicable Law (including court action) and in accordance with the Performance Standards and the practices and procedures that TxDOT follows in respect of its own facilities. Without limiting the foregoing, including TxDOT's exercise of actions permitted by applicable Law, Developer and TxDOT agree that TxDOT shall have the authority to stop, detain and/or impound a motor vehicle, as authorized under Section 366.038 and Subchapter C of Chapter 372 of the Texas Transportation Code, on the Facility's active traffic lanes (the "In-Lane Remedies"), provided TxDOT may only exercise such authority on the Facility (A) in accordance with any applicable business rules agreed upon in writing by Developer and TxDOT in effect from time to time and (B) in a manner consistent with the practices and procedures TxDOT follows in

respect of its other tolled facilities for which TxDOT provides the tolling services, generally applicable and consistently applied by TxDOT. The business rules applicable to the In-Lane Remedies shall be formulated (x) in full cooperation with Developer and (y) to provide that the exercise of the In-Lane Remedies does not impair Developer's normal operations of the Facility, which includes but is not limited to the revenue, safety, traffic flow, and lane availability of the Facility. TxDOT hereby acknowledges and affirms its liability for any injury or damage to persons or property caused by TxDOT's use, or TxDOT's placement on the Facility, of any vehicles or other equipment used by TxDOT in TxDOT's enforcement of the In-Lane Remedies (subject to any claims or defenses TxDOT may have with respect to the applicable person or property owner and subject to TxDOT's applicable insurance limits). The foregoing authority of TxDOT to exercise the In-Lane Remedies shall not be valid or effective following termination of this Tolling Services Agreement.

- Developer and TxDOT acknowledge and agree that, particularly in view of the (c) stated Term (as defined in the Agreement) of the Agreement and the Term of this Tolling Services Agreement, changes may occur during the Term in mobility and tolling equipment, technology and operations, interoperability standards and protocols and in business and commercial practices that may warrant the Parties' consideration and implementation of changes in the equipment, technology or practices utilized in connection with the Facility and/or changes to this Tolling Services Agreement and the Parties' respective responsibilities and obligations hereunder in order to more effectively provide for the performance of the services contemplated and intended by this Tolling Services Agreement. Developer and TxDOT further acknowledge that Developer may need to change equipment, technology and practices to maintain interoperability as required by Section 12.1.3 of the Agreement. Developer and TxDOT agree to reasonably cooperate with each other in considering any such changes and to implement the same to the extent such implementation may be achieved in a commercially reasonable manner and the proposed changes are consistent with technology and practices then used and/or followed by TxDOT with respect to its own facilities. connection therewith, Developer and TxDOT also shall consider in good faith any adjustments (if any) in the compensation payable to TxDOT hereunder in light of such changed circumstances. Any such changes shall be made in accordance with Section 17.
- TxDOT shall put into effect the Custodial Arrangements as and when set forth in Section 8.7.8 of the Agreement. TxDOT hereby disclaims any interest in funds owing or remitted to TxDOT by or on behalf of a User for a Transaction, and TxDOT, via the Custodial Arrangements, shall be deemed to be a collecting agent acting on behalf of Developer with respect to such amounts owing or remitted by or on behalf of the applicable Users and owed to and not yet paid to Developer; provided that to the extent the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement receives payments for tolls from Transactions in advance of collection of the tolls (in accordance with Section 7), Developer's rights to Toll Revenues in respect of such Transactions shall thereupon be deemed assigned to TxDOT, and TxDOT shall be entitled, through the Custodial Arrangements, to receive from the custodian and retain the corresponding amounts subsequently collected

from or on behalf of applicable Users for TxDOT's own account and as its own funds.

#### 3. Term; Transition of Services

- (a) The term (the "Term") of this Tolling Services Agreement commences on the date hereof and, subject to earlier termination in accordance with Section 19, shall expire either:
  - (i) If this Tolling Services Agreement is entered into pursuant to <a href="Section 8.7.5">Section 8.7.5</a> of the Agreement, then the later of (A) five years after the Cutover Deadline or (B) on the date the NTTA fully cures its default under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement and completes transfer of TxDOT's services, functions, rights and responsibilities back to the NTTA in accordance with a transition plan and schedule reasonably approved by TxDOT, Developer and the NTTA; or
  - (ii) If this Tolling Services Agreement is entered into pursuant to <u>Section</u> 8.7.6 of the Agreement, then two years after the Cutover Deadline.
- Subject to Sections 4(c) and 12(c), Developer and TxDOT shall diligently (b) cooperate and coordinate to accomplish transition of customer service. back office services and electronic funds transfer functions from NTTA to TxDOT's customer service center and CSC Host by the Cutover Deadline, in accordance with the transition plan adopted by TxDOT, Developer and NTTA under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement and consistent with TxDOT's systems and procedures. TxDOT's obligation to commence such services and functions on the Cutover Deadline is conditioned on Developer timely performing in all material respects the actions required of it under the transition plan. Without limiting the foregoing, and subject to Sections 4(c) and 12(c), TxDOT shall (i) cooperate and coordinate with Developer in its efforts to conduct and satisfy all performance testing of interconnection and interoperability of the ETCS with TxDOT's CSC Host, in accordance with Developer's testing and commissioning plans; and (ii) conduct testing prior to and/or within a reasonable time after the Cutover Deadline, pursuant to such transition plan and consistent with TxDOT's systems and procedures, to reasonably demonstrate to Developer the capability of TxDOT's information technology and management systems and personnel to effectively receive, track, process and report Transaction data for both Transponder Transactions and Video Transactions. Except as otherwise contemplated in Section 7(a) of Amendment No. 12 to the Agreement, TxDOT shall be entitled to payment from Developer of all costs and expenses TxDOT incurs in connection with the transition of services, functions, rights and responsibilities from NTTA to TxDOT, including in connection with TxDOT's efforts described in this Section 3(b). Developer shall reimburse TxDOT within 30 days after Developer receives any TxDOT invoice for such costs and expenses.
- (c) At the end of the Term or upon earlier termination of this Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT shall reasonably cooperate with Developer and its replacement contractor for toll collection, enforcement, and related services to provide a smooth transition of services from TxDOT to Developer and its

replacement contractor. The Parties shall, at their cost, cooperate with each other in order to prepare, on or prior to the date that is six months after the date of this Tolling Services Agreement (or any other date mutually agreed in writing), a mutually acceptable transition plan (with each Party agreeing not to unreasonably withhold its approval or assent thereto). The transition plan shall set forth protocols, procedures and terms for (i) the transition of collection and enforcement services from TxDOT to Developer or its designee respecting Transponder Transactions and Video Transactions and related Transaction data transmitted to TxDOT but for which tolls have not been collected prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Tolling Services Agreement; and (ii) the delivery by TxDOT to Developer, on or prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Tolling Services Agreement, of reports of (A) Transactions occurring during the Term for which TxDOT has collected and remitted tolls to Developer and received the related fees and other amounts payable to TxDOT hereunder: (B) Transactions occurring during the Term for which TxDOT has collected and remitted tolls to Developer hereunder but has not received all of the related fees and other amounts payable to TxDOT hereunder; and (C) with respect to Transactions that have occurred and the data for which has been transmitted by Developer to TxDOT but for which TxDOT has not collected and remitted tolls to Developer or received any fees or other amounts payable to TxDOT hereunder, TxDOT shall transfer such Transactions to Developer, together with any information that TxDOT has relating to such Transactions that may reasonably assist Developer in the collection of tolls for such Transactions. If TxDOT has made payment to Developer under the terms of this Tolling Services Agreement with respect to any Transactions that TxDOT has not collected or with respect to which TxDOT has not received Incidental Charges associated with such Transactions, at the expiration or termination date, TxDOT shall be entitled (and Developer shall have no obligation) to enforce and collect such Transactions in the same manner as had been in effect immediately before the expiration or termination date. The foregoing does not obligate TxDOT to provide professional consulting services for transition planning, except pursuant to a Change Order. Other than Transaction information described above, in no event shall the transition plan require TxDOT to disclose to Developer TxDOT's proprietary information or processes. The Parties will cooperate to update the transition plan once every two years, if applicable (or annually if reasonably requested by either Party due to any change in circumstances). With respect to any termination of this Tolling Services Agreement other than due to a default by TxDOT or the exercise by TxDOT of a right to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement without cause, TxDOT shall be entitled to payment from Developer of the costs and expenses incurred by TxDOT in connection with the services and reports to be furnished by TxDOT to Developer pursuant to provisions of this Section 3(c) and such transition plan.

#### 4. Toll Collection and Enforcement Services

(a) Starting when set forth in <u>Section 3(b)</u>, TxDOT shall provide complete back office functions pertaining to toll collection and enforcement for the Facility, consistent with the practices utilized by TxDOT with respect to its own facilities. Such functions shall include the following:

- providing all Customer service operations customer service representatives with access to all electronic account and toll violation information and ability to resolve most issues or questions with the customer (including HOV customers) through various contact channels, including (A) transponder distribution support. (B) walk-in customer service and support, (C) staffing and maintaining call center operations for customer and general inquiries with sufficient call handling capacity to answer calls in accordance with the Performance Standards. (D) operating and maintaining an industry-standard interactive voice response system in English and Spanish configured to allow customers, without charge, to obtain automated information, to transfer or be directed to a specific source of information, to access account maintenance functions and to speak in English or Spanish with a live customer service representative, (E) creating and managing an industry standard interactive web site, with the customer service center portion of the web site in English and Spanish, which may be used for disseminating information on TxDOT's transponder program and allowing a customer to conduct secure account maintenance activities such as opening an account, changing information on an account, viewing account status and statements, replenishing an account balance and with a posted privacy notice, and such web site shall allow dissemination and receipt of information simultaneously with multiple users without unreasonable delay in responses, (F) maintaining an Internet e-mail address for all inquiries and comments regarding account maintenance matters from customers and the public, (G) receipt of and response to e-mails on a timely basis during normal business hours, and (H) the ability of customers to send facsimile communications to the customer service center 24 hours per day seven days per week, and responding to such communications during normal business hours; however, notwithstanding the foregoing. Developer acknowledges that because Developer, not TxDOT, is responsible for collecting in-lane data in respect of the Facility, TxDOT may not be able to resolve HOV customer complaints regarding whether the customer was improperly charged a single occupancy vehicle toll rate rather than an HOV toll rate, or other HOV-related disputes, questions, or inquiries, including, but not limited to, issues regarding implementation of HOV policies; therefore, TxDOT shall not be adversely affected with regard to its compliance with Performance Standards in connection with its handling of any HOV disputes (it being understood and agreed that to the extent that TxDOT is reasonably able to resolve such disputes, it shall do so);
- (ii) Account management and maintenance, including setting up new personal and commercial accounts, managing transponder replacement, automatic replenishing of TxDOT accounts to pre-determined levels when accounts reach low balance thresholds, accepting payments (pursuant to payment methods consistent with those utilized by TxDOT with respect to its own facilities) to replenish accounts, and issuing monthly statements to TxDOT account holders (or other frequency as may be agreed between TxDOT and such account holders) providing an activity summary that itemizes usages, related toll charges and other Incidental Charges;

(i)

- (iii) Transponder issuance and replacement;
- (iv) Transaction and payment processing for Transponder Transactions, limited only to Transponder Transactions that occur on or after the Cutover Deadline and to the Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions, provided that Developer timely performs in all material respects the actions required of it under the transition plan. The foregoing includes posting Transponder Transactions against User transponder accounts, and debiting accounts for toll charges and Incidental Charges on a "first in" basis according to the date and time received by TxDOT, all subject to the Custodial Arrangements;
- (v) Transaction and payment processing for Video Transactions consistent with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities, limited only to Video Transactions that occur on or after the Cutover Deadline, provided that Developer timely performs in all material respects the actions required of it under the transition plan. The foregoing includes issuing billing statements to Video Transaction Users with itemization of toll charges and Incidental Charges, processing of payments received including reconciliation with billing statements, and accepting payment (pursuant to payment methods consistent with those utilized by TxDOT with respect to its own facilities), all subject to the Custodial Arrangements;
- (vi) Violation processing and enforcement in accordance with Chapter 228 of the Texas Transportation Code or other Laws applicable to TxDOT and consistent with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities:
- (vii) Implementation of appropriate reporting, reconciliation, accounting, audit and quality assurance processes in accordance with Good Industry Practice, including internal controls to minimize the possibility of inadvertent and illegal diversion of Toll Revenues, and including (A) controlled access to all TxDOT computer systems and subsystems, (B) control by user group scheme, (C) state of the art virus protection and firewall software and (D) maintaining a secure record of system access and breaches of security, consistent with Good Industry Practice;
- (viii) Implementation of data backup and disaster recovery in accordance with Good Industry Practice and retention of Facility-related data in accordance with <u>Section 15(d)</u>;
- (ix) Provision to the appropriate governmental agencies or entities of the State of Texas of the calculation and information required to be furnished by TxDOT pursuant to Section 228.0055(b) of the Texas Transportation Code (or any successor law thereto); and
- (x) Provision of all staffing, supervision, support services, data services, CSC Host equipment, and materials necessary to perform such responsibilities in a timely manner.

- (b) Provided TxDOT complies with <u>Section 4(a)(vi)</u>, decisions on whether and when to issue notices and pursue collection and enforcement actions shall be within the discretion of TxDOT. TxDOT shall exercise such discretion in the manner it makes such decisions with respect to its own tolled roadways and in accordance with Good Industry Practice.
- TxDOT shall solely choose the transponders to offer to Users, consistent with (c) Section 21 of the Technical Provisions and Section 12(h); provided that Developer reserves the right (but is not obligated) to issue its own transponders that are equivalent in utility, functionality and reliability to those issued by TxDOT to any Person from and after the date either Party delivers written notice to the other Party exercising a right to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement (so long as any such notice is not rescinded). TxDOT shall issue and replace transponders expeditiously, consistent with the time periods applicable for replacement of transponders in respect of its own facilities. TxDOT shall replace its transponders whenever a customer requests replacement, and shall be entitled to collect its standard charges therefor applicable to similar transponders issued by TxDOT. TxDOT shall include transponder mounting instructions with new transponders supplied to customers, and provide transponder mounting assistance at TxDOT's customer service center or outlets to support successful installation consistent with the level of service provided customers on TxDOT's own facilities.
- (d) TxDOT shall be responsible for taking reasonable steps to minimize the number of toll violations due to misuse (e.g. improper mounting or absence of transponder) by TxDOT account customers. Such responsibility shall include but not be limited to (i) providing clear transponder mounting instructions and assisting with mounting, if requested, as provided in subsection (c) above, (ii) identifying and contacting TxDOT account holders identified through Video Transactions or that incur violations, (iii) contacting TxDOT account holders to ascertain the reasons for such Video Transactions or violations and (iv) resolving if reasonably possible (e.g. providing instructions/assistance or a replacement transponder or obtaining updated account information). TxDOT shall take such steps consistent with its practices regarding customers of its own facilities.
- (e) TxDOT shall determine the location or locations of its call center operations and TxDOT's CSC Host. TxDOT may change any such location from time to time. If TxDOT changes any such location from the original location, it shall bear all costs of re-establishing necessary connections between the ETCS to the newly located TxDOT CSC Host equipment in connection with such relocation (and such statement of TxDOT's responsibility for such costs is not intended to limit any liability TxDOT otherwise may have under this Tolling Services Agreement for any loss of Toll Revenues owing to Developer attributable to a TxDOT breach or failure to perform). Upon the request of either Party, the Independent Engineer shall review such costs and advise the Parties concerning the accuracy of any statement thereof. Developer shall provide data to, and receive data from, TxDOT by means of the ETCS and its interface with TxDOT's CSC Host so as to enable TxDOT to enforce and collect all toll payments from Users in a timely, accurate and efficient manner.

- (f) TxDOT may establish and enforce reasonable minimum amounts for opening, maintaining and replenishing electronic tolling accounts, consistent with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities.
- (g) TxDOT shall provide credit card processing services to its customers and Video Transaction Users for all major credit cards consistent with its practices regarding customers of its own facilities.
- (h) TxDOT shall provide the foregoing services in accordance with the Performance Standards, the applicable provisions and requirements of this Tolling Services Agreement, and to the extent equal to or better than the foregoing requirements and standards, TxDOT also shall provide the foregoing services in accordance with TxDOT's standard management practices, procedures and protocols with which it performs such services and functions for its own facilities.
- (i) TxDOT shall be temporarily excused from complying with the requirements and standards set forth in <u>Section 4(h)</u> to the extent its inability to comply is directly attributable to any failure or inability of Developer to comply with the Interface Control Document, or to meet the ETCS performance requirements set forth in <u>Section 21.5</u> of the Technical Provisions. TxDOT shall bear the burden of providing evidence reasonably satisfactory to Developer that TxDOT exercised diligent efforts to comply.
- (j) TxDOT will provide Developer access to standardized toll collection system reports described in <u>Section 14</u> by means of a secure website/portal.
- (k) Developer and TxDOT shall conduct regular meetings (the "Developer-TxDOT Regular Meetings") at least once per month, or such other frequency as the Parties mutually approve, to review, discuss and resolve matters relating to coordination, services, quality control, performance, customer service, tolling (including any issues related to erroneous pricing set by Developer or billing by TxDOT and "readability" of transferred video images), payment and other matters arising under this Tolling Services Agreement. The Parties shall schedule all meetings at a mutually convenient date, time and place. In addition to regularly scheduled meetings, Developer and TxDOT shall cause their respective representatives to be available at all reasonable times (generally, during regular business hours) for consultation with one another and with the Independent Engineer.
- (i) Unless added by Change Order, TxDOT shall have no right or obligation to provide under this Tolling Services Agreement (i) storefront services except such services at TxDOT's customer service centers, (ii) any public relations work for the Facility, other than customer relations in the ordinary course of handling customer accounts, inquiries and communications, (iii) maintenance of a Facility web site (as distinguished from TxDOT's own web site and web-based customer service center required by <a href="Section 4(a)(i)(E) and (F)">Section 4(a)(i)(E) and (F)</a>), (iv) any marketing or promotional work or services for the Facility, other than customer relations, and (v) any maintenance work on Developer's toll collection system. In no event, however, shall TxDOT be prohibited from providing any such services in connection with its own facilities or those of any third party.

- (m) TxDOT recognizes that Developer is not entitled to charge tolls to Users with respect to any applicable portion of the Facility during an Emergency Mode. Developer shall not transmit transaction data to TxDOT during such periods. If Developer does so, and if TxDOT reviews any such Transaction data, TxDOT may charge Developer the Transaction fees and charges otherwise applicable to non-emergency Transactions hereunder (including, but not limited to, Base Transaction Fees and Variable Transaction Fees). However, TxDOT shall have no obligation to review any data transmitted in connection with Emergency Mode transactions. Except as provided below, in the event Developer transmits to TxDOT's CSC Host any Transaction that is for an Exempt Vehicle or that is a Duplicate Transaction, TxDOT also may charge Developer the Transaction fees and charges otherwise applicable to non-Exempt vehicles or non-Duplicate Transactions (as the case may be) hereunder (including, but not limited to, Base Transaction Fees and Variable Transaction Fees). Following the Cutover Date, Developer shall diligently cooperate with and assist TxDOT in its efforts to implement Developer's business rules for determination of Transactions by The Parties acknowledge that such business rules are Exempt Vehicles. governed by Section 12(g) and are designed to enable Developer to extract such Transactions from the Transactions that are transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host. Pending TxDOT's implementation of such business rules, and so long as Developer is cooperating and assisting, TxDOT shall not charge Developer with Transaction fees on Exempt Vehicle Transactions transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host.
- (n) TxDOT shall maintain the toll account and travel records of Users as confidential information and in compliance with applicable Laws on notice of privacy practices and handle such information in accordance with this Section 4(n).
  - TxDOT acknowledges that the data generated by, or accumulated or (i) collected in connection with, its services under this Tolling Services Agreement, including customer lists, customer identification numbers, customer contact information, customer account information and billing records and other customer specific information, including use and enforcement data, origin and destination information, system performance statistics, and real time traffic flow information may consist of or include information that identifies an individual who is a patron of the Facility and that is exempt from disclosure to the public or other unauthorized persons under applicable Law ("Patron Confidential Information"). Confidential Information includes names, addresses, Social Security numbers, e-mail addresses, telephone numbers, financial profiles, credit card information, driver's license numbers, medical data, law enforcement records, agency source code or object code, agency security data, or other information that relates to any of these types of information.
  - (ii) TxDOT shall comply with all applicable Laws, Technical Provisions and interoperability and compatibility standards, requirements and protocols developed by TxDOT and the state's other Toll Operators limiting, restricting or pertaining to collection, use, confidentiality, privacy, handling, retention, reporting, disclosure or dissemination of Patron Confidential Information ("Statewide Confidentiality Protocols").

- (iii) TxDOT agrees to hold Patron Confidential Information relating to the use of the Facility in strictest confidence and not to make use of Patron Confidential Information relating to the use of the Facility for any purpose other than the performance of this Tolling Services Agreement, including toll violation processing and collection; provided, however, that to the extent Patron Confidential Information has been provided to TxDOT in connection with its operation of its own facilities or its provision of services to other Toll Operators, TxDOT may use and retain such Patron Confidential Information as permitted by applicable Law and any applicable Statewide Confidentiality Protocols, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (iv) TxDOT shall not release, divulge, publish, transfer, sell or disclose Patron Confidential Information relating to the use of the Facility, or otherwise make it known, to any other Person except as permitted or required by applicable Laws. TxDOT shall implement physical, electronic and managerial safeguards to prevent unauthorized access to Patron Confidential Information and to implement destruction of records containing Patron Confidential Information in accordance with its practices and procedures regarding customers of its own facilities.
- (v) TxDOT shall disclose in writing to each User to whom TxDOT issues a transponder and for whom it holds Patron Confidential Information TxDOT's policies regarding privacy of Patron Confidential Information, consistent with this Section 4(n). TxDOT shall deliver such written disclosure in an applicable end user agreement, and shall maintain such disclosure on its web site. TxDOT shall comply with the provisions of any applicable Law prescribing disclosure of TxDOT privacy policies, including provisions on the content of disclosures and when disclosure must be given, and such compliance shall be deemed compliance with the disclosure requirements of this Section 4(n).
- (vi) TxDOT's obligations relating to Patron Confidential Information shall survive expiration or termination of this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (o) In connection with any dispute regarding a Transaction, including in connection with enforcement and collection proceedings brought to collect tolls owed with respect to the Transaction, at TxDOT's request Developer, at its expense, shall provide reasonable assistance and cooperation to evidence the proper operation of the ETCS and data transmission to the TxDOT's CSC Host at the time of the Transaction.
- (p) Developer generally intends to obtain prepayment of tolls or otherwise handle on its own payment of tolls for operators of Special Vehicles on the Facility and therefore not to involve TxDOT in transaction processing for Special Vehicles. However, the Parties recognize that Video Transactions regarding Special Vehicles may be transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host because a Special Vehicle has operated on the Facility without obtaining a permit and pre-paying a toll. In the event TxDOT receives a Video Transaction identified in the User Classification of a Special Vehicle, and if the Special Vehicle is not an Exempt

- Vehicle, then TxDOT shall process such Video Transaction as it customarily processes other Video Transactions.
- TxDOT shall have the right to use the brand name "TxTag" and/or "Texas Tollways," rather than or in addition to the official name of TxDOT, in its communications and dealings with Users and customers. Wherever in this Tolling Services Agreement a provision relating to TxDOT's communications and dealings with Users and customers refers to "TxDOT," it shall be construed consistently with this provision.

## Financial Interoperability Functions and Terms

- (a) TxDOT will establish and implement Interoperability Functions to coordinate the settlement and payment of electronic toll charges for Transponder Transactions by vehicles equipped with transponders issued by Transponder Issuers other than TxDOT. TxDOT will allow the Interoperability Functions to evolve to meet the needs of an increasing number of Transponder Issuers.
- (b) Developer hereby agrees to adhere to TxDOT's practices and procedures concerning compliance with applicable interoperability rules and guidelines by which all Persons involved in the Interoperability Functions will provide data for the transfer of funds (provided that TxDOT will keep Developer regularly informed of such practices and procedures). TxDOT shall pay Developer the amount of the toll less the interoperability fee (and less the Base Transaction Fee payable to TxDOT) (and subject to any adjustments provided for in Section 6(a)(ii)) for Interoperable Transactions (including for Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions).

#### 6. Compensation for Services

- (a) Fees and Deductions.
  - (i) In consideration for TxDOT's services hereunder, Developer shall pay TxDOT the following fees:
    - (A) The Base Transaction Fee provided for in Section 6(b); plus
    - (B) The Variable Transaction Fee provided for in <u>Section 6(c)</u>.
  - (ii) The Base Transaction Fee (as calculated pursuant to <u>Section 6(b)</u>) and the Variable Transaction Fee (as calculated pursuant to <u>Section 6(c)</u>) payable to TxDOT shall be subject to reduction (pursuant to <u>Section 6(h)</u>) by the following:
    - (A) The Delinquent Payment Deduction, calculated in accordance with Section 6(d); and
    - (B) The Non-Compliance Deduction, if any, calculated in accordance with <u>Section 6(e)</u>.

The amount payable to TxDOT pursuant to <u>Section 6(a)(i)</u>, net of deductions provided for in this <u>Section 6(a)(ii)</u>, is referred to in this Tolling Services Agreement as the "TxDOT Compensation."

The TxDOT Compensation is inclusive of all services required under this (iii) Tolling Services Agreement, other than those added by Change Order or Change Directive. Without limiting the foregoing, TxDOT expressly acknowledges that Developer shall have no obligation to compensate TxDOT over and above the TxDOT Compensation for any merchant bank charges or bank commissions or fees incurred by TxDOT for account replenishment and for any other forms of User payment methods which involve a bank (such as check, credit card, debit card, internet payments and wire transfers), or in the case of Video Transactions, for back-office work and services provided by TxDOT hereunder in respect of Video Transactions (including billing and processing payments for Video Transactions), costs of enforcement and collection, including costs of collection agencies and costs of pursuing collection in court, or of risks of inability to collect Video Transactions. This provision does not limit TxDOT's right to charge Incidental Charges to customers and Users to the extent set forth in Section 6(f), or TxDOT's right to additional compensation from Developer pursuant to Section 6(g).

#### (b) Base Transaction Fee.

- (i) Except as provided in Section <u>6(b)(ii)</u>, the Base Transaction Fee for each Transaction received by TxDOT's CSC Host shall be as follows.
  - (A) For Transactions occurring prior to the anniversary of the Service Commencement Date for the Facility occurring in 2016, the Base Transaction Fee shall be four and one-half cents (\$0.045) per Transaction; and
  - (B) The Base Transaction Fee per Transaction shall increase (rounded to the nearest 1/10<sup>th</sup> cent) on the anniversary of the Service Commencement Date for the Facility occurring in 2016 and every two years thereafter (i.e., on the second anniversary thereafter, fourth anniversary thereafter, sixth anniversary thereafter, etc.) based on an escalation rate equal to two percent (2.0%) per annum.
- (ii) The Base Transaction Fee for Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions shall equal 200% of the Base Transaction Fee set forth in Section 6(b)(i). In addition, if TxDOT is required to process a refund to NTTA or its account holder due to duplicate toll charges by NTTA and TxDOT for a Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction, then Developer shall owe TxDOT an additional fee equal to the Base Transaction Fee set forth in Section 6(b)(i).
- (iii) The applicable Base Transaction Fee shall be due and payable for each Transaction (whether a Transponder Transaction, Video Transaction or Interoperable Transaction (including a Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder

Transaction)) that is recognized by the ETCS and properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD (and any other criteria that may be developed and agreed upon in writing by the Parties pursuant to Section 8(f) or 9(e)). The Base Transaction Fee shall be paid to TxDOT by TxDOT's deduction of the amount thereof from the amount of each toll transaction payment made by TxDOT to Developer pursuant to Section 7 hereof; provided that the Base Transaction Fee and other fees under Section 6(b)(ii) for a Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction shall be paid to TxDOT by TxDOT's immediate deduction of the amount thereof from toll transaction payments made by TxDOT to Developer for all types of Transactions, without regard to whether or when the toll for the Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction is collected. Except as set forth in Section 6(b)(ii), Base Transaction Fees shall be the same for all User Classifications and for all Transactions in the same Service Year, regardless of the amount of the toll for such Transactions.

#### (c) Variable Transaction Fee.

- (i) The Variable Transaction Fee for each Transaction (other than Interoperable Transponder Transactions, which shall not be subject to the Variable Transaction Fee) received by TxDOT's CSC Host shall be equal to three and three-quarters percent (3.75%) of the applicable toll amount (exclusive of Incidental Charges).
- (ii) The Variable Transaction Fee shall be due and payable for each Transaction, whether a Transponder Transaction (other than an Interoperable Transponder Transaction) or a Video Transaction, that is recognized by the ETCS and properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD (and any other criteria that may be developed and agreed upon in writing by the Parties pursuant to Section 8(f) or 9(e)) and shall be paid to TxDOT by TxDOT's deduction of the amount thereof from the amount of each toll transaction payment made by TxDOT to Developer pursuant to Section 7 hereof.

#### (d) Delinquent Payment Deduction.

- (i) A Delinquent Payment Deduction will be made for any Payment Period in which TxDOT fails to make a timely payment to Developer in accordance with Section 7. The Delinquent Payment Deduction shall be payable as a monthly adjustment in accordance with Section 6(h) and shall be reported to Developer in a monthly Delinquent Payment Deduction report to be delivered to Developer by TxDOT pursuant to Section 14(d).
- (ii) The Delinquent Payment Deduction will be determined in accordance with the following formula (and an example of the calculation of the Delinquent Payment Deduction is attached hereto as Attachment 8):

Delinquent Payment Deduction = \( \sum\_{\text{Daily}} \) Delinquent Payment

n,m(Year n = 1 to \_\_\_\_ and Month m = 1 to 12) Deduction  $n,m \times Duration / 365$  (or 366, in leap years) x Interest Rate n,m

Where:

Daily Delinquent Payment Deduction n,m

Total payments due Developer on each day during Month m of Year n that are not timely paid by TxDOT when due under Section 7

The number of calendar days from the date a payment under

Duration = Section 7 is due until the date such payment is made to Developer.

Interest at a rate equal to the LIBOR in effect on the first day of Month *m* in Year *n* plus 400 basis points

#### (e) Non-Compliance Deduction.

Interest Rate n,m

(i) A Non-Compliance Deduction will be made for any Payment Period in which TxDOT is assessed Non-Compliance Points in respect of such Payment Period. The Non-Compliance Deduction shall be payable as a monthly adjustment in accordance with <a href="Section 6(h)">Section 6(h)</a>. The Non-Compliance Deduction will be calculated as follows (and an example of the calculation of the Non-Compliance Deduction is attached hereto as Attachment 9):

Non-Compliance Deduction n,m (Year n=1 to \_\_\_\_ and Month m=1 to 12) = Monthly Non-Compliance Deduction n,m

Where:

Monthly Non-Compliance = Monthly Non-Compliance Reduction Deduction n,m = Monthly Non-Compliance Reduction Percent x TxDOT Compensation n,m

Monthly Non-Compliance Reduction Percent The percent reduction to the TxDOT Compensation associated with the Non-Compliance Points for Month m as identified in Table 6(e)-1 below

TxDOT Compensation n,m = Base Transaction Fees for Period n,m + Variable Transaction Fees for Period n,m

Table 6(e)-1 – Monthly Non-Compliance Reduction Percent

Non-Compliance Points	Monthly Non-Compliance
for Period n,m	Reduction Percent
	for Period <i>n,m</i>
0 to 16	0%
17 to 24	2%
25 to 33	8%
34 to 44	20%
45 or more	35%

- Subject to Section 6(e)(iii), each month TxDOT will assign Non-(ii) Compliance Points to its performance in accordance with the Performance Standards and the terms hereof and will report the same to Developer in the monthly Non-Compliance Deduction report to be delivered to Developer pursuant to Section 14(e) no later than 15 days after the end of such month. Any related Non-Compliance Deduction shall be paid by TxDOT in connection with the monthly adjustments provided for in Section 6(h). Upon the written request of Developer, in addition to such monthly Non-Compliance Deduction report, TxDOT shall furnish to Developer reasonably detailed information and support for TxDOT's determination of such Non-Compliance Points. Compliance Points shall not be assessed under more than one category for any particular event or circumstance that is a breach or failure. Where a single act or omission gives rise to more than one breach or failure, it shall be treated as a single breach or failure for the purpose of assessing Non-Compliance Points, and the highest amount of Non-Compliance Points under the relevant breaches or failures shall apply. Upon the request of either Party, the Independent Engineer may review any determination of Non-Compliance Points by TxDOT hereunder and advise the Parties concerning the accuracy thereof. Developer and the Independent Engineer each shall have the right to inspect and audit TxDOT's books and records concerning the determination of Non-Compliance Points and Non-Compliance Deductions pursuant to Section 15(b) and (c). Any disagreement between the Parties concerning the assignment of Non-Compliance Points shall be resolved pursuant to Section 20.
- (iii) No Non-Compliance Points will be assigned to a failure of TxDOT to achieve the performance required in accordance with the Performance Standards and the other standards set forth herein if such failure to perform is (A) directed by Developer, (B) planned by TxDOT and consented to, in advance in writing, by Developer, (C) directly caused by the acts or omissions of Developer or (D) excused pursuant to Section 22(d).

#### (f) Incidental Charges to Users.

In addition to the TxDOT Compensation, TxDOT shall have the right to impose on and collect from Users (separate from the toll charges referenced in <u>Sections 7(a) and (b)</u>), and retain as additional compensation, Incidental Charges consistent with TxDOT's practices concerning customers of its own facilities; provided that Developer shall have no liability for TxDOT's inability to collect the same from Users.

#### (g) Additional Fees and Charges Payable By Developer.

In addition to the TxDOT Compensation, Developer shall pay to TxDOT its demonstrated and actual additional administrative and processing costs and expenses, except those capable of being reasonably mitigated, incurred to perform services under this Tolling Services Agreement directly attributable to any failure or inability of Developer to meet the ETCS performance requirements set forth in Section 21.5 of the Technical Provisions. (Developer recognizes and acknowledges that such additional costs and expenses will not be compensated by any Non-Compliance Points liquidated damages that may be assessed and paid to TxDOT under the Agreement by reason of any such failure, because the same were estimated and agreed to only to cover damages to TxDOT in its capacity as a Party to the Agreement and not TxDOT's capacity as a provider of the services set forth in this Tolling Services Agreement.) In addition, Developer shall pay to TxDOT all sums due in accordance with the terms of any Change Orders or Change Directives. Amounts payable to TxDOT pursuant to this Section 6(g) (other than amounts payable under the previous sentence) shall be payable by monthly adjustments pursuant to Section 6(h).

#### (h) Monthly Adjustments.

For each calendar month during the Term, TxDOT shall deliver to Developer, by the 15<sup>th</sup> day of the immediately succeeding calendar month, a report of adjustments made in respect of Transactions during such month and adjustments owing in respect of other matters processed during such month, in each case as contemplated hereunder and with each such report to be in reasonable detail. The report shall cover each of the following, with the related adjustment to be made as follows:

(i) Such report shall set forth all Transaction adjustments made during such calendar month in respect of (A) Unpostable Transponder Transactions that have not been reclassified as a Video Transaction, (B) Duplicate Transactions previously paid by TxDOT, (C) Video Transactions not pursuable (e.g., Transactions involving vehicles that are not Candidate Vehicles) (provided that there will not be a reduction in tolls payable to Developer for Video Transactions that are not pursuable due to the fault of TxDOT), (D) adjustments resulting from settled or otherwise resolved User disputes, (E) adjustments relating to refunds to accounts or Video Transaction Users due to inaccurate toll charges and inaccurate Transactions transmitted from Developer to TxDOT and (F) deductions for TxDOT refunds to NTTA or NTTA account holders due to duplicate toll charges by NTTA and TxDOT for Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder

Transactions. Such adjustment shall be made each Business Day during the applicable calendar month as contemplated by <u>Section 7(a) and (b)</u>. Such adjustments shall be applied on a daily basis to the toll Transaction payment owing to Developer pursuant to <u>Section 7</u>.

(ii) Such report also shall set forth all adjustments to be made in respect of the calendar month covered thereby for (A) any amounts owing to TxDOT from Developer pursuant to <a href="Section 6(g)">Section 6(g)</a>; (B) Delinquent Payment Deductions and Non-Compliance Deductions owing to Developer from TxDOT; and (C) any other amounts subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms of this Tolling Services Agreement (including, but not limited to, any refunds provided for in <a href="Section 11(c)">Section 11(c)</a>). Such report shall reasonably describe the basis for the amounts owing for each of the foregoing items and the net amount owing in respect thereof shall be payable by the applicable payor Party to the applicable payee Party within 15 days after the due date for delivery of such report. For the avoidance of doubt, however, the delivery of such report shall not be a condition to any adjustment otherwise required for Delinquent Payment Deductions and Non-Compliance Deductions hereunder.

TxDOT Compensation and other amounts payable in accordance with this <u>Section 6(h)</u> not paid when due (other than as a consequence of TxDOT's failure to timely deduct payments owing to it when it has the right hereunder to make such deductions from toll payments to be made to Developer hereunder) shall bear interest and late charges as provided in Section 19(f).

#### (i) Disputed Amounts.

- (i) In the event either Party disputes any amount that is to be payable by or to such Party pursuant to a monthly adjustment in accordance with Section 6(h), then (A) such Party shall, within 14 days after delivering or receiving (as the case may be) notice or an invoice or statement for such amount, deliver written notice to the other Party of the amount in dispute and the reasons for dispute and (B) the Party from whom the disputed amount is payable shall, within the time period for payment of the invoice, deposit into the Toll Operator Dispute Account under the Facility Trust Agreement an amount equal to 105% of the amount in dispute and notify the other Party in writing that such deposit has been made.
- (ii) The amount so deposited under clause (i) above shall be maintained in the Toll Operator Dispute Account until the dispute is finally determined, at which time all amounts due the payee Party, if any, shall be immediately released from the Toll Operator Dispute Account to pay the amount due, including any late charge and interest. If the amount in the Toll Operator Dispute Account is insufficient to pay the amount finally determined to be due, including any late charge and interest, the payor Party shall immediately satisfy the balance of the amount due from other sources. If the amount in the Toll Operator Dispute Account exceeds the amount finally determined to be due, if any, the excess shall be immediately released to the payor Party, together with any interest

- earnings in the Toll Operator Dispute Account attributable to the excess funds so released to the payor Party.
- (iii) If, in respect of any payment obligation, the amount required by this Section 6(i) has been paid into the Toll Operator Dispute Account in accordance with the terms of this Section 6(i), then the applicable payor Party shall not be in default of the related payment obligation hereunder if the dispute related thereto is not resolved until after the date such payment otherwise would be due under this Tolling Services Agreement, but such payor Party shall be liable for late charges and interest thereon, as provided in Section 6.1(i)(ii) and determined pursuant to Section 19(d).
- (j) Any distribution, receipt, or handling of funds by TxDOT under this Section shall be subject to the Custodial Arrangements.

#### 7. <u>Toll Transaction Payments to Developer</u>

- Subject to Sections 7(c), 7(d) and 7(e), and except as provided otherwise in Sections 3(c) and 22(d), for each Transponder Transaction with a non-Exempt Vehicle that occurs after the Cutover Deadline, TxDOT shall, via the Custodial Arrangements, deposit or cause to be deposited with the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement an amount equal to the toll for the Transponder Transaction (i.e., the toll charge indicated by Developer as contemplated by Section 11(a)), less fees payable under Section 6 and adjustments made pursuant to Section 6(h) (other than monthly adjustments provided for in Section 6(h)(iii)), within two Business Days after the date the Transponder Transaction has been properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD. Transponder Transactions properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD on a non-Business Day shall be deemed to be first transmitted on the next Business Day. Notwithstanding the foregoing (but subject to Sections 7(c), 7(d) and 7(e), and except as provided in Section 22(d):
  - With respect to any Transponder Transaction that occurs after the (i) Cutover Deadline for which Developer does not receive an acknowledgment of receipt by TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD. (A) if Developer has both notified TxDOT of such attempted transmittal and also made arrangements with TxDOT either for the transmittal or for the delivery to TxDOT of the applicable Transponder Transaction data in digital form in accordance with the ICD within four hours after Developer's initial transmittal of such Transponder Transaction to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD, then TxDOT shall be obligated to deposit or cause to be deposited the applicable amount within such two Business Day period from the date and time of the initial transmittal (or from the first Business Day after the date of initial transmittal if the initial transmittal occurs on a non-Business Day), and (B) if Developer shall not have both so notified TxDOT of such attempted transmittal and also made arrangements with TxDOT either for the transmittal or for the delivery to TxDOT of the applicable Transponder Transaction data in digital form in accordance with the ICD within such four hour period, then the period within which TxDOT is obligated to deposit or cause to be deposited the applicable amount shall be

extended to the corresponding time, less four hours, on the date that is two Business Days from the date and time that Developer shall have both so notified TxDOT of such transmittal and also so made arrangements with TxDOT either for the transmittal or for the delivery to TxDOT of the applicable Transponder Transaction data in digital form in accordance with the ICD; and

(ii) If TxDOT has been unable to meet the Cutover Deadline, then, subject to Section 7(e), TxDOT shall be obligated to deposit the applicable amount for Transponder Transactions occurring between the Cutover Deadline and the Cutover Date within two Business Days after the date Developer delivers to TxDOT the applicable Transponder Transaction data in digital form in accordance with the ICD (or from the first Business Day after the date of such delivery if such delivery occurs on a non-Business Day).

The applicable amount of each Transponder Transaction with a non-Exempt Vehicle that occurs after the Cutover Deadline shall be due and payable regardless of whether TxDOT actually collects the applicable toll amount from the applicable User. For the avoidance of doubt, the toll to be remitted to Developer pursuant to this Section 7(a) does not include any Incidental Charges.

- (b) Subject to Sections 7(c), 7(d) and 7(e), and except as provided otherwise in Sections 3(c) and 22(d), for each Video Transaction that occurs after the Cutover Deadline, TxDOT shall, via the Custodial Arrangements, deposit or cause to be deposited with the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement an amount equal to the toll for the Video Transaction (i.e., the toll charge indicated by Developer as contemplated by Section 11(a)), less fees payable under Section 6 and adjustments made pursuant to Section 6(h) (other than monthly adjustments provided for in Section 6(h)(ii)), within two Business Days after the date the Video Transaction has been properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD. Video Transactions properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD on a non-Business Day shall be deemed to be first transmitted on the next Business Day. Notwithstanding the foregoing (but subject to Sections 7(c), 7(d) and 7(e), and except as provided in Section 22(d):
  - With respect to any Video Transaction that occurs after the Cutover (i) Deadline for which Developer does not receive an acknowledgment of receipt by TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD, (A) if Developer has both notified TxDOT of such attempted transmittal and also made arrangements with TxDOT either for the transmittal or for the delivery to TxDOT of the applicable Video Transaction data in digital form in accordance with the ICD within four hours after Developer's initial transmittal of such Video Transaction to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD, then TxDOT shall be obligated to deposit or cause to be deposited the applicable amount within such two Business Day period from the date and time of the initial transmittal (or from the first Business Day after the date of initial transmittal if the initial transmittal occurs on a non-Business Day), and (B) if Developer shall not have both so notified TxDOT of such attempted transmittal and also made arrangements with TxDOT either for the transmittal or for the delivery to TxDOT of the applicable Video Transaction data in digital form

in accordance with the ICD within such four hour period, then the period within which TxDOT is obligated to deposit or cause to be deposited the applicable amount shall be extended to the corresponding time, less four hours, on the date that is two Business Days from the date and time that Developer shall have both so notified TxDOT of such transmittal and also so made arrangements with TxDOT either for the transmittal or for the delivery to TxDOT of the applicable Video Transaction data in digital form in accordance with the ICD; and

(ii) If TxDOT has been unable to meet the Cutover Deadline, then, subject to Section 7(e), TxDOT shall be obligated to deposit the applicable amount for Video Transactions occurring between the Cutover Deadline and the Cutover Date within two Business Days after the date Developer delivers to TxDOT the applicable Video Transaction data in digital form in accordance with the ICD (or from the first Business Day after the date of such delivery if such delivery occurs on a non-Business Day).

The applicable amount for each Video Transaction with a non-Exempt Vehicle that occurs after the Cutover Deadline shall be due and payable regardless of whether TxDOT actually collects the applicable toll amount from the applicable User. For the avoidance of doubt, the toll to be remitted to Developer pursuant to this Section 7(b) does not include any Incidental Charges.

- (c) If Developer transmits to TxDOT's CSC Host on any given day more than two full days of Transactions, TxDOT shall be entitled to reasonable extensions of the deadlines for payment set forth in Sections 7(a) and (b) to the extent that TxDOT bears the burden of providing evidence reasonably satisfactory to Developer that despite diligent efforts to process the Transactions TxDOT was unable to complete processing within the deadlines provided due to the added volume of Transactions transmitted during the day.
- If (i) for any reason other than a delay attributable to TxDOT (including any delay (d) resulting from TxDOT's failure to include in the applicable report referenced in Section 14(a) information concerning the reclassification of any Transponder Transaction) Developer first transmits to TxDOT's CSC Host sets of Transaction data (not counting Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions) more than 30 days after the date the Transactions occurred (or in the case of any Transaction that has been reclassified, more than 30 days after the date on which Developer has been notified of the reclassification), and (ii) TxDOT bears the burden of providing evidence reasonably satisfactory to Developer that TxDOT's rate of collection of the toll charges associated with such set of Transaction data (despite its commercially reasonable efforts to collect) is lower than the rate of collection it would have realized had transmission occurred without such delay, using the same billing, collection and enforcement practices and procedures, then TxDOT shall have the right to recover from Developer TxDOT's loss of toll charge collections so proven.
- (e) Subject to <u>Sections 7(c) and 7(d)</u>, for the following Transactions the payment due dates shall be:

- (i) The 25<sup>th</sup> day of the month in which the Cutover Deadline occurs (or the next Business Day if such date is a non-Business Day), if the Cutover Deadline is not later than the 20<sup>th</sup> day of such month, on which date TxDOT will be obligated to pay 50% of the total amounts determined under Sections 7(a) and 7(b) with respect to Transactions that occur on or after the Cutover Deadline and up to two Business Days before such payment due date;
- (ii) The 25<sup>th</sup> day of the first full month after the Cutover Deadline (or the next Business Day if such date is a non-Business Day), on which date TxDOT will be obligated to pay (A) 50% of the total amounts determined under Sections 7(a) and 7(b) with respect to Transactions that occur on or after the Cutover Deadline and up to two Business Days before such payment due date, minus (B) the total payment (if any) previously made pursuant to clause (i) above; and
- (iii) The date that is 60 days after the Cutover Deadline (or the next Business Day if such date is a non-Business Day), on which date TxDOT will be obligated to pay the total amounts determined under Sections 7(a) and 7(b) with respect to Transactions that occur on or after the Cutover Deadline and up to two Business Days before such payment due date, minus (B) the total payments previously made pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above;

provided that the payment due date deferrals under this this subsection (e) shall not apply to the extent the amounts that would be deferred beyond the payment due dates for such Transactions otherwise required under Sections 7(a) and 7(b) are necessary at such time for Developer to comply with any of its obligations under the Funding Agreements and the Security Documents. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 7(e) does not apply in respect of any Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions submitted to TxDOT pursuant to Section 16.

- (f) The Parties acknowledge that the requirement to make payments to the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof is for the benefit and protection of TxDOT, Developer and Developer's Lenders, and is necessary for Developer to comply with the Agreement and the Facility Trust Agreement. Accordingly, TxDOT shall have no right or obligation to make any payments directly to Developer, or to any Person other than such trustee.
- (g) TxDOT's payments shall be subject to the Custodial Arrangements. TxDOT and Developer acknowledge that the Custodial Arrangements are for the protection of Developer, and Developer is an intended third party beneficiary of the Custodial Arrangements, so long as this Tolling Services Agreement is in effect.

# 8. <u>Video Transactions</u>

- (a) Developer's obligations regarding transmission of video imagery data to TxDOT's CSC Host are as follows:
  - (i) For Transponder Transactions where the status of the transponder indicated in the Consolidated Master List at the time of the Transaction is

- other than "Good", Developer shall transmit to TxDOT the Transponder Transaction, video images of license plates and video data as required by the ICD;
- (ii) For all other Transponder Transactions where the status of the transponder indicated in the Consolidated Master List at the time of the Transaction is "Good" and the User Classification determined by Developer does not match the User Classification associated with the transponder as indicated in the Consolidated Master List at the time of the Transaction, Developer shall transmit to TxDOT the Transponder Transaction, video images of license plates and video data as required by the ICD;
- (iii) For all Video Transactions where a transponder is recorded but not listed in the Consolidated Master List, Developer shall transmit to TxDOT the video images of license plates and video data as required by the ICD, as well as the transponder information;
- (iv) For all Video Transactions, in the event a license plate in a Video Transaction is on the Consolidated Master List, the Video Transaction shall be denoted as such in accordance with the ICD, shall state the license plate's alpha-numeric or personalized information, and shall include video images of the license plates and video data as required by the ICD; and
- (v) For all other Video Transactions, Developer shall transmit to TxDOT the video images of license plates and video data as required by the ICD.
- (b) For all Video Transactions where license plates match a current customer account record, TxDOT shall make an attempt to post the Transaction to the customer account and reclassify the Video Transaction to a Transponder Transaction.
- (c) TxDOT shall issue a statement to each Video Transaction User (for whom TxDOT has necessary registration and mailing address information) and shall provide each such Video Transaction User the opportunity to pay such invoice, in each case consistent with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities, prior to treating such Video Transaction as a violation or initiating violation processing and procedures against such Video Transaction User. If a Video Transaction User shall fail to pay any such statement within the applicable allotted time period, then TxDOT may initiate violation processing and procedures against such Video Transaction User, consistent with TxDOT's policies regarding customers of its own facilities.
- (d) For the purpose of <u>Section 8(c)</u>, "issue" means the billing statement accurately sets forth the toll charges, including the Incidental Charges, and is deposited in the U.S. mail, proper postage prepaid.
- (e) The reports provided for in <u>Section 14(a)</u> will include information referencing each Transponder Transaction that has been reclassified to a Video Transaction within one Business Day following such reclassification (and with any such

reclassification to be made within 31 days after TxDOT's receipt of the applicable Transponder Transaction or such other time period as applies from time to time under the applicable interoperability agreement). Developer agrees to maintain video images and video date of Transponder Transactions and Video Transactions for at least 30 days following the occurrence thereof.

- (f) Following the execution of this Tolling Services Agreement, Developer and TxDOT shall cooperate with each other to discuss whether there should be implemented any objective criteria, in addition to the requirements of the ICD, for the rejection of Video Transactions that may require further review by Developer before acceptance and processing by TxDOT. Neither party shall be obligated to accept such additional requirements.
- (g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Tolling Services Agreement, any reference in this Tolling Services Agreement to the delivery of video data or images of license plates shall be deemed to be a reference to an image of either the front or the back license plate as provided in clause (b) of the definition of "Candidate Vehicle" (except that, as provided in such clause (b), the image must be of the front license plate in the case of a vehicle with a trailer).

#### 9. Transponder Transactions

- Before Developer transmits a Transaction to TxDOT's CSC Host, Developer shall (a) compare the transponder to the most recently updated version of the Consolidated Master List. If the transponder is listed as "Good" in the Consolidated Master List, Developer shall transmit the Transponder Transaction (for this purpose, determined to be a Transponder Transaction without reference to the sufficiency of funds in the applicable customer account) as required by the ICD, but if such Transponder Transaction is determined to be an Unpostable Transponder Transaction, then TxDOT shall, for TxDOT accounts, request from Developer video images and video data (as required by the ICD and as contemplated herein) within seven days of TxDOT's receipt of the applicable Transponder Transaction (but without prejudice to the right of Developer to submit such video images (as required by the ICD and as contemplated herein) at any time following the date on which the reclassification of the applicable Transponder Transaction to an Unpostable Transponder Transaction is included in a report provided for in Section 14(a), as provided in Section 8(e)). If Developer elects not to send such video images and video data within seven days following TxDOT's request, and the Transaction is not postable, the Transaction will be adjusted as one not involving a Candidate Vehicle until such time as Developer resubmits the Transaction with the video images and video data.
- (b) If a Transponder Issuer (including TxDOT) rejects due to insufficient funds TxDOT's settlement of a Transaction, other than a Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction, on the Facility by the Transponder Issuer's customer that was originally characterized as a Transponder Transaction (prior to such determination of insufficient funds), TxDOT will resubmit the Transaction for settlement consistent with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities prior to mailing a Video Transaction billing statement to the customer on account of the rejected Transaction. TxDOT shall advise Developer and request

a video image and video data, within seven days of 'TxDOT's receipt of the applicable Transponder Transaction, with respect to any such Transaction that is not settled by the Transponder Issuer within that time frame. For the avoidance of doubt, a Transaction, other than a Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction, that was originally characterized as a Transponder Transaction is automatically reclassified as a Video Transaction if both (i) the video image is available, and (ii) either (A) the account persists to have insufficient funds to pay the full toll for the Transaction through the Business Day prior to the Business Day on which TxDOT would mail a Video Transaction billing statement in accordance with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities or (B) even though the account has sufficient funds, the Transponder Issuer (other than TxDOT) for any reason fails to transmit to TxDOT the full toll for the Transaction by the deadline by which it is obligated to do so under its interoperability protocols and agreements with TxDOT, and does not cure such failure prior to the Business Day on which TxDOT would mail a Video Transaction billing statement in accordance with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities. If the video image is unavailable and the account so persists to have insufficient funds or the Transponder Issuer so fails to transmit the full toll to TxDOT, however, then the Transaction will be adjusted as one not involving a Candidate Vehicle unless and until such time as Developer resubmits the Transaction with video images and video data.

- (c) If a vehicle is associated with a transponder issued by TxDOT or by another Toll Operator or Transponder Issuer and associated with an account that is not closed at the time of transmission, but it is evident that a Transponder Transaction, other than a Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction, is not recorded because the transponder is not properly mounted or not properly functioning, TxDOT shall use reasonable efforts, in accordance with TxDOT's practices regarding customers of its own facilities, to notify the account holder and rectify or cause to be rectified the problem with the transponder.
- (d) The Base Transaction Fees and Variable Transaction Fees are inclusive of any transaction fees and charges by other Toll Operators and Transponder Issuers, including NTTA, in connection with account management and fund transfers for Transponder Transactions on the Facility by their account holders (other than any interoperability fees required to be paid by Developer hereunder) and Developer shall not be responsible for any such additional charges or fees.
- (e) Following the execution of this Tolling Services Agreement, Developer and TxDOT shall cooperate with each other to discuss whether there should be implemented any objective criteria, in addition to the requirements of the ICD, for the rejection of Transponder Transactions that may require further review by Developer before acceptance and processing by TxDOT. Neither party shall be obligated to accept such additional requirements.

### 10. No Duty to Enforce, Collect or Pay

(a) Developer shall be responsible for determining whether a vehicle is a Candidate Vehicle. TxDOT shall have no duty to attempt to collect or enforce a toll, or to pay Developer for Transactions, respecting a vehicle traveling on the Facility where the vehicle is not a Candidate Vehicle; provided, however, that if TxDOT does collect a toll respecting any such vehicle, it shall pay Developer the toll collected and shall be entitled to TxDOT Compensation for such Transaction. Whether TxDOT has received an unobstructed readable video image (as defined in the definition of Candidate Vehicle) shall be determined in accordance with Good Industry Practice. TxDOT shall provide Developer access to TxDOT's standard exception reports indicating Transactions that involve vehicles that are not Candidate Vehicles. If TxDOT shall pay Developer a toll for any such Transaction, it shall be entitled to reimbursement or adjustment in respect thereof pursuant to Sections 6(g) and (h), and TxDOT shall have no obligation to pursue collection or enforcement of such Transaction.

(b) TxDOT shall have no duty to accept for processing transmissions of Transaction data not in the format and having the content required by the Interface Control Document (or by any other criteria that may be developed and agreed upon in writing by the Parties pursuant to Section 8(f) or 9(e). If TxDOT accepts such data for processing, then the matter shall be treated as a Transaction for all purposes under this Tolling Services Agreement, except as provided otherwise in Section 10(a). If TxDOT does not accept such data, (i) TxDOT shall reject the data in accordance with the ICD, and (ii) TxDOT shall not be entitled to process the matter for collection or enforcement unless and until it subsequently accepts transmission of the data.

# 11. Overcharges: Credits to Account Holders

- TxDOT shall charge the toll charge indicated by Developer. Developer shall be responsible for determining the applicable toll charge that corresponds to each Transaction based upon User Classification, Developer's applicable toll schedule or dynamic pricing model, and any applicable high occupancy vehicle discount and correctly communicating such information to TxDOT. For the avoidance of doubt, if Developer states a toll charge for a Transponder Transaction or a Video Transaction different from the toll charge for the User Classification associated with the applicable customer account, TxDOT shall charge the toll charge as indicated by Developer. The foregoing does not waive any of Developer's obligations or any of TxDOT's rights and remedies under the Agreement regarding toll rates that may be charged to Users.
- (b) Under no circumstances shall TxDOT charge any User a toll in addition to or higher than the toll charge transmitted from Developer to TxDOT, except that TxDOT may charge for the Incidental Charges authorized hereunder. TxDOT shall refund to any User any toll or Incidental Charge TxDOT charges in violation of this provision.
- (c) If TxDOT is or becomes aware that any account or Video Transaction User has been overcharged or incorrectly charged for use of the Facility by reason of inaccurate toll charges transmitted from Developer to TxDOT, including but not limited to by reason of incorrect transmission by Developer of dynamic pricing information or failure to properly account for an applicable high occupancy vehicle discount, TxDOT shall have the right and the obligation to arrange for a refund to the subject account or Video Transaction User as part of the monthly adjustment provided for in Section 6(h); provided, however, that TxDOT shall always be obligated to promptly arrange for such refund if it has received

payment of such overcharge from Developer or the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement, as the case may be, pursuant to the immediately following sentence. Alternately, TxDOT shall have the right to invoice Developer or the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement, in writing or electronically, for the overcharge or incorrect charge, and Developer shall pay, or cause the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement to pay from the Toll Revenue Account, such invoiced amount within two Business Days after receipt of the invoice, and following receipt of such invoiced amount, TxDOT shall promptly refund such amount to the relevant account or Video Transaction User. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in connection with each refund or reimbursement, TxDOT shall have no obligation to recalculate or adjust its Transaction fees in accordance with Section 6 (i.e. based on the correct toll charges). determination of whether there has been an overcharge or incorrect charge in connection with a customer dispute shall be made pursuant to the Agreement and, to the extent consistent with the Agreement, written guidelines furnished by Developer, or if Developer does not furnish such guidelines, in accordance with TxDOT's practices and procedures utilized with respect to its own facilities. This Section 11(c) shall be subject to the Custodial Arrangements to the extent TxDOT receives, disburses, and/or handles any funds hereunder.

# 12. System Technology Interface; Interoperability

- Developer at its expense shall design, install, operate and maintain the ETCS. (a) Such design and installation shall be consistent with, and meet all requirements of, the Interface Control Document attached hereto as Attachment 3, as the same may be revised or updated by TxDOT from time to time. TxDOT shall reasonably cooperate with Developer in fulfilling its obligations under this Section 12(a) In addition, although the provisions of this Tolling Services Agreement shall control over the ICD, TxDOT and Developer shall reasonably cooperate to review and, as appropriate, make changes to the ICD from time to time to take into account changes in technology and business practices, so long as such changes are compatible with the tolling practices and procedures of TxDOT and other Transponder Issuers, as applied in respect of their own facilities. Without limiting the preceding sentence, TxDOT and Developer shall reasonably cooperate to review and, as appropriate, make changes to the ICD in accordance with the preceding sentence in connection with the activities contemplated by Section 12(c).
- (b) TxDOT at its expense shall supply, operate and maintain TxDOT's CSC Host and facilitate on TxDOT's CSC Host capacity to exchange data with the ETCS. TxDOT's CSC Host shall be consistent with, and meet all requirements of, the Interface Control Document attached hereto as <a href="Attachment 3">Attachment 3</a>, as the same may be revised or updated by TxDOT from time to time, including such revisions and updates as may be made pursuant to the cooperation between TxDOT and Developer described above in Section 12(a).
- (c) As between TxDOT and Developer, Developer shall have sole responsibility for the design, capacity and efficacy of the communications protocols and procedures, including communications lines, for interconnection between the Electronic Toll Collection System and TxDOT's CSC Host, which shall be part of the transition plan. If interconnection between the Electronic Toll Collection

System and TxDOT's CSC Host is not established or does not function according to TxDOT's standards and requirements, including TxDOT's ICD, by the Cutover Deadline due to problems with the design, capacity or efficacy of the communications protocols and procedures, then the Cutover Deadline shall be extended until the problems are rectified by Developer, and TxDOT shall have no responsibility or liability to Developer resulting from delay in commencement of TxDOT's services under this Tolling Services Agreement. TxDOT and Developer shall consult and cooperate with each other upon the reasonable request of either of them from time to time during the Term to review such communications protocols and procedures then existing and to determine whether the same should be changed or updated based on then existing technology and industry standards and practices and, if reasonably determined by TxDOT and Developer to be appropriate, to so change or update such communications protocols and procedures. DEVELOPER ASSUMES ALL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PERFORMANCE OR NON-PERFORMANCE OF SUCH COMMUNICATIONS PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES AND ANY THIRD PARTY CLAIMS WITH RESPECT THERETO, AND, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, RELEASES TXDOT FROM, AND AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, PROTECT, DEFEND AND HOLD HARMLESS TXDOT FROM AND AGAINST, ANY AND ALL LOSSES, CLAIMS, LIABILITIES AND DAMAGES ARISING THEREFROM (INCLUDING LOSSES, CLAIMS, LIABILITIES AND DAMAGES ARISING FROM TXDOT'S SIMPLE NEGLIGENCE), EXCEPT FOR THIRD PARTY LOSSES, CLAIMS, LIABILITIES AND DAMAGES ARISING THEREFROM AS CONSEQUENCE OF TXDOT'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE, WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OR FRAUD RELATING TO THE DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH PROTOCOLS AND PROCEDURES.

- (d) TxDOT will consolidate the Transponder Issuers' master lists and updates (such consolidation being the "Consolidated Master List") of all known transponders and their current known status and electronically distribute the consolidated information to Developer. Status designations shall be in accordance with the Interface Control Document. TxDOT will make such electronic distribution of the Consolidated Master List to Developer daily. TxDOT represents and warrants to Developer that TxDOT shall accurately, in all material respects, consolidate the related Transponder Issuers' master lists and updates, as provided to TxDOT by the respective Transponder Issuers, when distributing the Consolidated Master List to Developer hereunder, provided, however, that Developer acknowledges that TxDOT can make no (and hereby disclaims any) representation or warranty concerning the accuracy of the information contained in such master lists and updates, which Developer further acknowledges has been obtained and compiled by each applicable Transponder Issuer prior to the transmittal of the same to TxDOT.
- (e) Developer shall be responsible for transmitting toll rates for each Transaction corresponding to Developer's dynamic pricing model and for identifying all Transactions that qualify for a high occupancy vehicle discount.
- (f) So long as this Tolling Services Agreement is in effect, Developer shall deploy toll system technology for the Facility that does not adversely affect reliability of, or ability to meet applicable standards in the most recently issued Interface Control Document for, transmission of data to TxDOT's CSC Host. If TxDOT

modifies the requirements of TxDOT's systems, Developer is not required to maintain interoperability with such modification pursuant to <u>Sections 8.7.2 and 8.7.3</u> of the Agreement, and such modifications are not attributable to a change required by this Tolling Services Agreement or by a Change Order or Change Directive under this Tolling Services Agreement benefiting the Facility, then TxDOT shall reimburse Developer for Developer's reasonable costs of any modifications Developer is required to make to comply with such modified requirements.

- TxDOT acknowledges and agrees that Developer may create and apply its own business rules for assisting in the proper determination of Transactions by Users and tolls due from Users, so long as the business rules are consistent with the Agreement, Technical Provisions, Facility Management Plan, this Tolling Services Agreement and Good Industry Practice. Developer may implement such business rules through logical routines incorporated into its tolling system. Subject to Section 11(c), TxDOT shall accept and process data developed from application of such business rules and transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise agreed in writing by TxDOT and Developer, tolling on the Facility shall be conducted on a transaction, rather than a trip, basis, and will involve a single point of payment, open toll system-type toll collection process (as opposed to a ticket- or trip-based system, where the toll rate is determined by matching or attempting to match transactions occurring at more than one toll location or toll plaza).
- (h) So long as this Tolling Services Agreement is in effect, TxDOT shall adopt and issue new types or models of transponders in accordance with applicable Texas statewide interoperability requirements. TxDOT and Developer acknowledge that the benchmark performance standards for transponders under interoperability requirements in effect as of the date of execution hereof limit the types and models of transponders to those that are equal to or better than the performance levels of the transponders listed in <a href="Attachment 4">Attachment 4</a> to this Tolling Services Agreement.
- If (A) Developer has terminated the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement pursuant (i) to its terms and (B) during the term of this Tolling Services Agreement TxDOT or any statewide interoperability group of which TxDOT is a party or member desires to initiate or propose any changes in interoperability standards, protocols, rules or procedures, then TxDOT will use reasonable efforts to notify Developer 90 days in advance of such changes; provided that if TxDOT determines that a change is required to be implemented in a shorter time period, TxDOT will use reasonable efforts to notify Developer as soon as possible following such determination. Following such notice, TxDOT shall consult with Developer in good faith to explain the proposed changes and obtain Developer's analysis of the potential impacts on Developer's revenues and expenses, and Developer's alternative approaches, if any. TxDOT also will discuss any updates or other information TxDOT may have with respect thereto during the TxDOT-Developer TxDOT shall take Developer's analysis and suggested Regular Meetings. alternatives into consideration and shall attempt in good faith to inform the other members of such statewide interoperability group of Developer's concerns (without any obligation to act as an advocate of any of Developer's positions); but Developer shall have no right to prevent, disapprove or modify any proposed

changes. During the term of this Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT shall promptly deliver to Developer written notice of any change in interoperability standards, protocols, rules or procedures adopted or agreed to by TxDOT. Developer shall conform to any such changes in accordance with <u>Section 8.1.2</u> of the Agreement.

# 13. Intellectual Property and Licensing; Promotional Plan

- (a) If Developer utilizes any tolling system architecture, design, process, method or invention that is protected by Intellectual Property Rights of another Person, then before requiring TxDOT to provide any services under this Tolling Services Agreement that utilize any such protected item, Developer shall obtain and provide to TxDOT, without cost to TxDOT, any licenses that are required in order for TxDOT to accept data and transactions derived from the matter so protected and to otherwise perform services using such protected items. Developer shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless TxDOT from any loss, cost, liability, obligation or expense arising out of any infringement by TxDOT of any such Intellectual Property Rights in the performance of this Tolling Services Agreement (except to the extent that any such loss, cost, liability, obligation or expense relates to a modification to such Intellectual Property Rights made by TxDOT without authorization by Developer).
- (b) If Developer by Change Order or Change Directive requires TxDOT to modify any portion of TxDOT's VTX System or other applicable comparable system, Developer shall have no right, title, or interest in or to any such modification.
- TxDOT hereby grants to Developer a fully paid up, non-exclusive, license to use (c) TxDOT's name, logos, trademarks and brands during the term of this Tolling Services Agreement in connection with the Facility and Developer's operation thereof, including maintenance of TxDOT's name, logos, trademarks and brands on the roadway, on the Facility web site and in Developer's promotional and marketing materials for the Facility; provided that the location, context and appearance of all displays of TxDOT's name, logos, trademarks and brands shall be subject to TxDOT's prior review and prior written approval. TxDOT shall not unreasonably withhold its approval; and TxDOT shall be deemed to approve unless it delivers to Developer written objection or disapproval, including the reasons therefor and any changes needed to obtain approval, within 14 days after TxDOT receives written request for approval including the proposed usage. The license granted hereby shall automatically expire upon expiration or earlier termination of this Tolling Services Agreement, unless TxDOT otherwise agrees in writing.
- (d) Nothing in this <u>Section 13</u> grants to TxDOT any exclusive rights regarding use or display of names, logos, trademarks or brands of Transponder Issuers, or regarding marketing and promotion by Transponder Issuers, in connection with the Facility. TxDOT reserves the right to challenge other Transponder Issuers that use logos, trademarks or brands that infringe upon TxDOT's rights in its own logos, trademarks or brands.
- (e) Subject to <u>Section 13(b)</u>, any systems that may be developed on Developer's behalf that do not incorporate any technology owned or licensed by TxDOT and

that are paid for by Developer shall be Developer's intellectual property, but Developer shall grant TxDOT a paid-up, non-exclusive license to use the same during the Term to the extent such systems are required for TxDOT's performance of its responsibilities under this Tolling Services Agreement.

# 14. Reports; Developer Protection of Patron Confidential Information

- TxDOT shall provide access to reports Developer may utilize to prepare (a) reconciliation reports, in summary or in detail, by reporting period selected by Developer. Such reports to which access is provided by TxDOT shall reflect the Transactions as transmitted from Developer to TxDOT for the applicable reporting period and shall be adequate for purposes of Developer's reconciliation of Transaction fees and other amounts paid by Developer to TxDOT and TxDOT to Developer. Such reports shall be broken down to support the reconciliation of the fees paid to TxDOT and the tolls paid to Developer. Such reports shall reflect the Transactions received by TxDOT, the breakdown of Transponder Transactions, Interoperable Transactions, Transponder Transactions posted to customer accounts, Transponder Transactions and Interoperable Transactions reclassified as Unpostable Transponder Transactions or Video Transactions, Transponder Transaction variances that are not pursuable, Video Transactions, Transactions that cannot be pursued as a result of not involving a Candidate Vehicle and Transaction adjustments. TxDOT shall post Transactions from the Facility in accordance with TxDOT's standards and practices for its own facilities, and Developer shall have access to reports reflecting such Transactions upon such posting. Upon the request of either Party, the Independent Engineer may review reconciliation reports and underlying Transaction data and assist and advise the Parties in connection with any disagreement with respect thereto, including any disagreement with respect to verifying reconciliations.
- (b) Without prejudice to or limitation on the right of Developer to initially determine (as provided in <u>Section 10(a)</u>) or dispute whether a vehicle is a "Candidate Vehicle" as defined in this Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT shall provide Developer with a summary and detail to support the reported vehicles that have been deemed "Not a Candidate Vehicle".
- (c) TxDOT shall reconcile Transactions for each calendar month not later than 15 days after the end of such month. TxDOT shall make reconciled reports available to Developer through direct access to TxDOT's reporting system, as in (a) above or through other electronic means.
- (d) TxDOT shall provide Developer with a monthly Delinquent Payment Deduction report for each calendar month not later than 15 days after the end of such month. Such report shall state (i) for each instance in the applicable calendar month in which a payment due under Section 7 was not timely made, the amount of the delinquent payment, the number of calendar days or partial calendar days from the date the payment was due under Section 7 until the date the payment was made to Developer (or until the end of the calendar month if not yet paid) and (ii) TxDOT's calculation of the Delinquent Payment Deduction, if any, for that calendar month.

**EXHIBIT 23** 

Page 32 of 57

Concession CDA

- (e) TxDOT shall provide Developer with a monthly Non-Compliance Deduction report for each calendar month not later than 15 days after the end of such month. Such report shall state (i) a comparison of actual performance during such calendar month to each of the Performance Standards, (ii) TxDOT's calculation of the Non-Compliance Points, if any, for such calendar month and (iii) TxDOT's calculation of the Non-Compliance Deduction, if any, for that calendar month.
- (f) TxDOT also will prepare and provide to Developer any other specific report that is required to be delivered by Developer under the Agreement in respect of the tolling services operation of the Facility (provided that such report relates to the general scope of the services provided by TxDOT hereunder).
- (g) TxDOT shall make available its reports to Developer in a format reasonably approved in writing by Developer. In no event shall Developer have the right to require report formatting that TxDOT's system is not capable of generating. Not later than 90 days after the execution of this Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT shall deliver to Developer sample report formats including fictitious data sets. Developer shall deliver its comments on such sample report formats to TxDOT within not more than 60 days after receipt.
- (h) TxDOT also shall deliver to Developer such other information as Developer may reasonably request to evaluate TxDOT's compliance with this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (i) Developer shall make available to TxDOT, no later than the 15th day of each calendar month, a record of Exempt Vehicle, non-billable transactions for the preceding calendar month.
- (j) Developer also shall deliver to TxDOT such information as TxDOT may reasonably request to evaluate Developer's compliance with this Tolling Services Agreement, including but not limited to such information as TxDOT may reasonably request from time to time concerning the compliance of the in-lane ETCS equipment utilized for the Facility with the requirements of the Agreement. TxDOT shall maintain the confidentiality of such information.
- (k) Developer shall maintain any and all information relating to TxDOT account holders that may be reported under this <u>Section 14</u> as confidential information and in compliance with <u>Section 8.8</u> of the Agreement, which is hereby incorporated herein by reference, and with applicable Laws on notice of privacy practices.

#### 15. Records and Audit Rights

(a) TxDOT shall maintain, in accordance with Good Industry Practice, accurate and complete books and records, including electronic data, of or relating to (i) all Transponder Transactions and Video Transactions received via TxDOT's CSC Host, (ii) all actions and dispositions by TxDOT with respect to each Transponder Transaction and Video Transaction received via TxDOT's CSC Host, (iii) all data, information and calculations relevant to TxDOT Compensation and other fees and charges that TxDOT charges to Developer, itemized by each Transponder

Transaction and Video Transaction, and itemized by type, date and amount, (iv) all User violations by User, date and amount, (v) all Incidental Charges directly relating to Facility usage, itemized by User, type, date and amount, (vi) TxDOT's performance of this Tolling Services Agreement, including books and records relating to compliance or lack of compliance with Performance Standards (including information concerning assignment of Non-Compliance Points) and other obligations of TxDOT under this Tolling Services Agreement, and (vii) all correspondence and other written or electronic communications with Developer relating to this Tolling Services Agreement. TxDOT shall notify Developer where such records and documents are kept.

- TxDOT shall make all its books and records described in Section 15(a) available (b) for audit and inspection by Developer and the Independent Engineer and/or their respective Authorized Representatives or designees, at the location where such books and records are customarily maintained, at all times during normal business hours, without charge. TxDOT shall provide to Developer and the Independent Engineer and their designees copies thereof upon request and at no expense to TxDOT. Developer and/or the Independent Engineer may conduct any such inspection upon two Business Days' prior written notice, or unannounced and without prior notice where there is good faith suspicion of fraud by TxDOT in connection with performance of this Tolling Services Agreement. The right of inspection includes the right to make extracts and take notes, which will be subject to the confidentiality provisions of this Tolling Without limiting the foregoing, TxDOT shall afford Services Agreement. Developer and its Authorized Representative and the Independent Engineer, and their designees, access during normal business hours to TxDOT's customer service center and other TxDOT offices and operations buildings for the purpose of carrying out their oversight and audit functions.
- (c) The rights of Developer and the Independent Engineer to audit and inspect under this Tolling Services Agreement shall include the right to monitor, audit and investigate TxDOT's books and records related to its services hereunder and to monitor and review TxDOT's systems, practices and procedures concerning Patron Confidential Information obtained and held in connection with this Tolling Services Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, Developer and the Independent Engineer may exercise such audit and inspection rights to determine the accuracy of the reports provided by TxDOT pursuant to Section 14(d) and (e) and any Delinquent Payment Deduction, Non-Compliance Deduction or Non-Compliance Points stated therein or made or calculated pursuant thereto.
- (d) TxDOT shall retain the books and records described in <u>Section 15(a)</u> for a minimum of five years after the date the record or document is generated. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) all records which relate to claims and disputes between TxDOT and Developer shall be retained and made available until any later date that such claims or disputes and actions are finally resolved, and (ii) the time period for retention of Patron Confidential Information shall be as set forth in <u>Section 8.8</u> of the Agreement.

### 16. Pre-Transition Transactions

- (a) Developer shall not transmit to TxDOT, and TxDOT shall have no obligation to process or pay for, Transactions (and related data) that first occur prior to the Cutover Deadline, except as specifically provided otherwise in this <u>Section 16</u>.
- (b) This Section 16 shall apply only to Transponder Transactions that:
  - (i) occur (A) on or after the date Developer properly exercised its option to transfer tolling services to TxDOT pursuant to <u>Section 8.7.5.1 or 8.7.6.1</u> of the CDA but (B) prior to the Cutover Date;
  - (ii) are recorded by an NTTA-issued transponder;
  - (iii) have not been debited against the NTTA customer's pre-paid account prior to the Cutover Date; and
  - (iv) are transmitted to TxDOT pursuant to <u>Section 16(c)</u> (collectively "Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions").
- (c) No earlier than the 11<sup>th</sup> day after the Cutover Date, Developer shall have the right to transmit or otherwise deliver to TxDOT, on a daily basis, not more than the total number of Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions divided by the total number of days in the period described in <u>Section 16(b)(i)</u>, until all the Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions have been delivered to TxDOT; provided that:
  - (i) Concurrently with each such transmission to TxDOT, Developer delivers to TxDOT (A) a written notice that Developer is delivering Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions to TxDOT and (B) a written certification stating that each of the transactions transmitted qualifies as a Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction, including that none of them has previously been debited against the NTTA customer's pre-paid account; and
  - (ii) Concurrently with the first such transmission to TxDOT, Developer also delivers to TxDOT a written certification stating the total number of Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions that then exist.
- (d) TxDOT shall process each Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction as an Interoperable Transponder Transaction and transmit it to the interoperability hub within two Business Days (extended, however, by any hub outages, expected or unexpected, affecting such transmission) after it is properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host. If, however, Developer transmits to TxDOT's CSC Host on any given day more than two full days of Transactions, TxDOT shall be entitled to reasonable extension of the foregoing two-Business Day deadline to the extent that TxDOT was unable to complete processing within the deadlines provided due to the added volume of Transactions during the day.
- (e) TxDOT shall have no obligation or liability whatsoever to pursue collection or enforcement of Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions other than to

submit, process and settle them as Interoperable Transponder Transactions via the interoperability hub and related protocols and procedures for the Interoperability Functions. Without limiting the foregoing, TxDOT shall have no obligation to treat unpaid Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions as Video Transactions, to issue any notice to pay, violation notice or other notice, to initiate any enforcement or collection action via collection agency or court proceedings, or to engage in any other collection or enforcement efforts.

- (f) TxDOT shall have no obligation or liability whatsoever for any toll from Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions that TxDOT is unable to collect from NTTA via the interoperability hub.
- (g) For each Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction, TxDOT shall, via the Custodial Arrangements, deposit or cause to be deposited with the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement an amount equal to the toll actually collected from NTTA for the Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transaction, less Base Transaction Fees payable under <a href="Section 6(b)(ii)">Section 6(b)(ii)</a>, interoperability fee reimbursements payable under <a href="Section 5(b)">Section 6(b)(ii)</a>, and adjustments made pursuant to <a href="Section 6(h)(i)">Section 6(h)(i)</a>. Payment will be due within two Business Days after the date TxDOT actually collects payment of such toll from NTTA (including by means of periodic reconciliation of interoperable transactions between NTTA and TxDOT).
- (h) The provisions of this <u>Section 16</u> supersede any inconsistent provisions elsewhere in this Tolling Services Agreement.

# 17. Change Orders and Change Directives

#### (a) General

- (i) Developer and TxDOT may (but shall not be obligated to) agree on Change Orders at any time and without limitation as to the subject matter thereof.
- (ii) The following may be adjusted by Change Orders or Change Directives: provisions for additional or supplemental services from TxDOT that (A) are generally within the scope of the back office services set forth in this Tolling Services Agreement, (B) are consistent with applicable Law and (C) do not adversely affect TxDOT's ability to maintain its performance in accordance with the Performance Standards, including additional or supplemental services to assist Developer in implementing its ideas, programs and packages for marketing, promotion and enhanced customer service. For the avoidance of doubt, the changes in scope of work set forth in Section 4(I) may be made only by mutually agreed Change Order.
- (iii) The following may be adjusted by Change Order or Change Directive: terms and provisions of this Tolling Services Agreement (A) as necessary for Developer to implement Change Orders and Directive Letters under the Agreement that relate to or affect the pre-existing terms of this Tolling Services Agreement, including changes in User Classification, provided

the adjustment is consistent with applicable Law; and (B) as necessary to comply with applicable Law.

- Where the provisions above expressly permit Developer to issue a (iv) Change Directive, Developer may issue it whenever the Parties are unable to agree as to the adjustment to any portion of the compensation for TxDOT or to Performance Standards after having attempted in good faith for a period not exceeding ten Business Days to agree on such matters (which period may be extended, however, for an additional ten Business Days if either Party elects to have the proposed Change Directive evaluated by the Independent Engineer pursuant to Section 17(f)). All Change Directives shall provide a written detailed description of the changes, and the proposed basis for adjustments in compensation and Performance Standards (if any). TxDOT shall proceed immediately with the Change Directive, and the Parties shall then negotiate a Change Order expeditiously and in good faith. If the Parties are unable to reach agreement upon the Change Order, TxDOT may assert a claim or cause of action to resolve such dispute under Section 20.
- (v) Except as expressly provided above or otherwise mutually agreed in writing by the Parties, no provisions of this Tolling Services Agreement may be modified or amended by Change Order or Change Directive.
- (b) Effectiveness of Change Orders.

Change Orders shall only be effective upon execution in writing by both Parties. The foregoing shall not preclude Developer or TxDOT from granting written waivers, in general or in specific instances, of provisions of this Tolling Services Agreement or related Performance Standards.

- (c) <u>Developer-Initiated Change Orders.</u>
  - (i) <u>Developer Change Order Notice</u>. If Developer wishes to make a change pursuant to <u>Section 17(a)</u> or to evaluate whether to make any such change, other than due to a Change Directive, Developer shall deliver to TxDOT a written notice of the proposed change.
  - (ii) Evaluation of Proposed Change Order. Within 30 days after receipt of such notice, or longer or shorter period as the Parties may mutually agree depending upon the complexity of the proposed change, TxDOT shall deliver to Developer a written evaluation of the proposed change, together with TxDOT's analysis and supporting documentation supporting estimated adjustments to any applicable element of compensation or any applicable Performance Standard required as a result of such proposed change.
  - (iii) <u>Developer Determination</u>. Within 30 days after receipt of TxDOT's evaluation, Developer shall provide written notice of Developer's intent to proceed or not to proceed with the change. If Developer elects to proceed with the change and accepts TxDOT's evaluation, Developer shall prepare a Change Order for execution. If Developer elects to

proceed with the Change Order but does not accept the evaluation in total, Developer shall negotiate a mutually acceptable Change Order with TxDOT or issue a Change Directive where permitted under <u>Section</u> 17(a).

# (d) Change Order Pricing.

- (i) Modifications or adjustments of TxDOT's compensation under this Tolling Services Agreement as a consequence of a Change Order or Change Directive shall be based upon the increase or decrease in (A) where applicable, TxDOT's marginal costs directly attributable to the change and a reasonable rate of return commensurate with the risks undertaken by TxDOT under the terms of this Tolling Services Agreement respecting the affected services and under the method of pricing such services, and (B) where marginal costs are not applicable because the change requires additional or supplemental services beyond those TxDOT is already providing generally for itself, its road system, its customers, Developer and other developers, or because the change reduces services originally priced other than on a marginal cost basis, then TxDOT's reasonable costs directly attributable to the change and a reasonable rate of return commensurate with the foregoing risks.
- (ii) Modifications or adjustments (whether an increase or decrease) of TxDOT's compensation shall be determined in the order of preference set forth below:
  - (A) Adjustments to rates using the pricing structure and methodology set forth in Section 6;
  - (B) If there is no agreement to rate adjustments or the Parties mutually agree that the adjustment is best done with unit prices, then an adjustment shall be negotiated using the unit prices agreed upon:
  - (C) If there is no agreement to unit pricing or the Parties mutually agree that the adjustment is best done with lump sum pricing, then an adjustment shall be negotiated using a lump sum; or
  - (D) If the Parties cannot reach agreement using the above methods and Developer has the right to, and does, issue a Change Directive to perform the changed services, TxDOT shall promptly proceed with the changed services, and the adjustment shall be determined on a time and materials basis applying marginal costs or cost savings, or the actual, reasonable direct costs or savings, as applicable, for the services attributed to the Change Directive, plus or minus an amount reflecting a reasonable rate of return commensurate with the risks described in <a href="Section 17(d)(i)">Section 17(d)(i)</a>. In such case, (I) payments shall be due monthly within 30 days after TxDOT delivers to Developer written invoices and back-up documentation reasonably required by Developer, and (II) TxDOT shall keep and present, in such form as Developer may

reasonably require, an itemized accounting together with appropriate supporting data, which shall be subject to audit by Developer in accordance with the provisions of <u>Section 15</u>.

# (e) Impact to Performance Standards and Measures.

- (i) If as a result of a Change Order or Change Directive, it is determined that such change will or does materially impair TxDOT's ability to meet the Performance Standards, then Developer and TxDOT will negotiate as part of the Change Order (or, in the case of a Change Directive, TxDOT shall be entitled to) an appropriate adjustment to the affected Performance Standards. The adjustment shall be limited to the minimum extent reasonably necessary under the circumstances.
- (ii) If it is possible to avoid an adjustment to Performance Standards through a Change Order adjusting price (or through a price adjustment in connection with a Change Directive) but Developer prefers not to incur the price adjustment, then TxDOT shall cooperate with and assist Developer with analyzing trade-offs between price and Performance Standards to give Developer a range of choices on how to proceed with the Change Order or Change Directive.
- (iii) If it is not possible to adjust a Performance Standard in a manner that enables Developer to remain in compliance with its obligations under the Agreement, then Developer either may (A) incur the price adjustment to the extent needed to preserve the Performance Standard and remain in compliance with the Agreement or (B) modify or withdraw the Change Order or Change Directive.

### (f) <u>Involvement of Independent Engineer</u>

Upon the request of either Party, the Independent Engineer shall evaluate any Change Order contemplated or proposed by either Party or any Change Directive contemplated or proposed by Developer and simultaneously report to the Parties concerning the advisability thereof and the anticipated effect (economic and otherwise) of the same on this Tolling Services Agreement, the services provided hereunder and the operation of the Facility. If so requested by either Party, the Independent Engineer also shall participate in, and facilitate, discussions between the Parties concerning any Change Order contemplated or proposed by either Party or any Change Directive contemplated or proposed by Developer.

### (g) Open Book Basis

All negotiations of Change Orders shall be conducted on an Open Book Basis. Except as required to be disclosed by judicial order or applicable Law, both Parties shall maintain the confidentiality of confidential records obtained or reviewed on an Open Book Basis in connection with such negotiations.

- 18. <u>Representations and Warranties; Covenant Regarding Developer Existence and Good Standing</u>
  - (a) TxDOT represents and warrants to Developer that, as of the date this Tolling Services Agreement is executed:
    - (i) TxDOT is duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the state of Texas and has full power, right and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Tolling Services Agreement and each and all of the obligations of TxDOT provided for herein.
    - (ii) TxDOT is a governmental entity and as such has no issued or outstanding capital stock (including options, warrants and other rights to acquire capital stock).
    - (iii) The execution, delivery and performance of this Tolling Services Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action of TxDOT; each person executing this Tolling Services Agreement on behalf of TxDOT has been duly authorized to execute and deliver it on behalf of TxDOT; and this Tolling Services Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by TxDOT.
    - (iv) Provided that Developer properly exercised its step-in or termination rights under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, neither the execution and delivery by TxDOT of this Tolling Services Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, is in conflict with or has resulted or will result in a default under, or a violation of, the governing instruments or governing statutes of TxDOT, any approvals or laws applicable to TxDOT or any other material agreement to which TxDOT is a party.
    - (v) Provided that Developer properly exercised its step-in or termination rights under the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement, this Tolling Services Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of TxDOT, enforceable against TxDOT in accordance with its terms, subject only to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting the enforceability of the rights of creditors generally and general principles of equity.
    - (vi) There is no action, suit, proceeding, investigation or litigation pending and served on TxDOT which challenges TxDOT's authority to execute, deliver or perform, or the validity or enforceability of, this Tolling Services Agreement or which challenges the authority of the TxDOT official executing this Tolling Services Agreement; and TxDOT has disclosed to Developer any pending and un-served or threatened action, suit, proceeding, investigation or litigation with respect to such matters of which TxDOT is aware.
    - (vii) TxDOT is not in breach of any applicable Law that would have a material adverse effect on TxDOT's ability to perform its obligations under this Tolling Services Agreement.

- (viii) TxDOT has all necessary expertise, qualifications, experience, competence, skills and know-how to perform its obligations under this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (b) Developer represents and warrants to TxDOT that, as of the date this Tolling Services Agreement is executed:
  - (i) Developer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, has the requisite power and all required licenses to carry on its present and proposed activities, and has full power, right and authority to execute and deliver this Tolling Services Agreement and to perform each and all of the obligations of Developer provided for herein. Developer is duly qualified to do business, and is in good standing, in the State of Texas.
  - (ii) The execution, delivery and performance of this Tolling Services Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate, partnership or limited liability company action (as the case may be) of Developer; each person executing this Tolling Services Agreement on behalf of Developer has been duly authorized to execute and deliver it on behalf of Developer; and this Tolling Services Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Developer.
  - (iii) Neither the execution and delivery by Developer of this Tolling Services Agreement, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, is in conflict with or has resulted or will result in a default under, or a violation of, the governing instruments of Developer, any approvals or laws applicable to Developer or any other material agreement to which Developer is a party.
  - (iv) This Tolling Services Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Developer, enforceable against Developer in accordance with its terms, subject only to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting the enforceability of the rights of creditors generally and general principles of equity.
  - (v) There is no action, suit, proceeding, investigation or litigation pending and served on Developer which challenges Developer's authority to execute, deliver or perform, or the validity or enforceability of, this Tolling Services Agreement or which challenges the authority of the Developer official executing this Tolling Services Agreement; and Developer has disclosed to TxDOT any pending and un-served or threatened action, suit, proceeding, investigation or litigation with respect to such matters of which Developer is aware.
  - (vi) Developer is not in breach of any applicable law that would have a material adverse effect on the operations of the Facility or Developer's ability to perform its obligations under this Tolling Services Agreement.
  - (vii) Developer is the "Developer" named in the Agreement and is the legal and valid holder of the Developer's Interest under the Agreement.

- (viii) Developer has delivered to the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement a written certificate (A) naming TxDOT as the exclusive "Toll Operator" entitled to the benefits and protections of the provisions of the Facility Trust Agreement pertaining to Toll Operators and (B) revoking any prior naming of the NTTA as a "Toll Operator;" and Developer has not and will not, so long as this Tolling Services Agreement is in effect, revoke such certificate or name a different or additional Person as "Toll Operator."
- (c) The foregoing representations and warranties of TxDOT and Developer shall survive for a period of two years following the expiration or earlier termination of this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (d) Developer covenants and agrees that it will maintain its existence and will remain in good standing in the State of Texas throughout the Term of this Tolling Services Agreement and will maintain its existence for as long thereafter as any obligations remain outstanding under this Tolling Services Agreement. The provisions of this Section 18(d) shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Tolling Services Agreement.

### 19. Default and Remedies

- (a) <u>Developer Default and TxDOT Remedies</u>.
  - Developer shall be in default under this Tolling Services Agreement in the (i) event (A)(1) subject to Section 6(i), Developer fails to make any payment to TxDOT when due hereunder or (2) Developer fails to perform any other obligation of Developer hereunder (i.e., any obligation other than payment obligations covered by the preceding clause (1)), and either such failure continues for 30 days (or, with respect to obligations covered by clause (2) above, if such failure cannot be cured within 30 days but Developer has begun diligently pursuing a cure within such 30 days and continues to diligently pursue such cure, 90 days) after TxDOT delivers written notice thereof to Developer, (B) Developer shall file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or insolvency or a petition for reorganization under any bankruptcy law. (C) Developer shall consent to an involuntary petition in bankruptcy against it or fail to vacate within 60 days from the date of entry thereof any order approving an involuntary petition in bankruptcy against it, (D) an order, judgment or decree shall be entered by any court of competent jurisdiction, on the application of a creditor, adjudicating Developer as bankrupt or insolvent or appointing a receiver, trustee or liquidator of all or a substantial part of such party's assets, and such order, judgment or decree shall continue unstayed and in effect for 60 days after its entry. (E) any representation or warranty of Developer hereunder was not true when made and such failure has a material adverse effect on Developer's ability to perform its obligations in accordance with the requirements of this Tolling Services Agreement, or (F) Developer assigns its rights and obligations under this Tolling Services Agreement in violation of this Tolling Services Agreement.
  - (ii) In the event of a default by Developer under this Tolling Services Agreement, TxDOT shall be entitled to all rights and remedies available

under this Tolling Services Agreement, at Law or in equity, including the right to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement for failure of Developer to pay any sum when due (each of which rights and remedies shall be cumulative and in addition to any such other rights and remedies); provided that with respect to termination (A) TxDOT shall first deliver to Developer written notice of election to terminate, (B) termination shall be effective the first to occur of (1) 180 days after TxDOT delivers such notice to Developer, or (2) the date Developer and/or its replacement contractor for toll collection and enforcement services is ready to commence performing such services, and (C) pending the effective date of termination, TxDOT shall continue to diligently perform the services hereunder, including assisting with transition of services as set forth in Section 3(c). TxDOT's recoverable damages (following any termination of this Tolling Services Agreement) shall include the unamortized portion of all TxDOT's reasonable direct costs to prepare and mobilize for performance of this Tolling Services Agreement, including equipment costs, costs of interface coordination, hiring and training costs, and similar costs directly attributable to such preparation and mobilization. Such costs shall be deemed amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of five years starting on the Cutover Deadline.

- (iii) No remedy referred to in this <u>Section 19(a)</u> is intended to be exclusive, but, to the extent permissible hereunder and under applicable Laws, each remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to any other remedy referred to above or otherwise available to TxDOT under applicable Laws. To the extent that any Developer default under this Tolling Services Agreement also constitutes a default by Developer under the Agreement, TxDOT's rights and remedies shall in no way be limited to those specified in this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (iv) Provided that Developer shall have given written notice to TXDOT of any Lender and/or Collateral Agent that Developer desires should have the right (but not the obligation) to cure any default by Developer hereunder, and the address for notice to such Lender and/or Collateral Agent, TXDOT shall deliver to such Lender and/or Collateral Agent written notice of any default by Developer hereunder at the same time as delivery of the default notice to Developer. Such Lender and/or Collateral Agent (and/or its designee, including, if applicable, any Substituted Entity that succeeds to Developer's interest hereunder prior to the lapse of any applicable cure period hereunder) shall have the right (but not the obligation) to cure such default within the same period of time granted to Developer hereunder, plus, in the case of a default under Section 19(a)(i)(A) or (E), an additional 30 days (15 days in the case of a payment default) following the expiration of the cure period afforded to Developer hereunder. If such default has not been cured by the expiration of the cure period provided herein, regardless of whether an event of default has occurred and is continuing under any loan documents between such Lender and/or Collateral Agent and Developer, or whether such Lender and/or Collateral Agent has exercised any rights or remedies with respect thereto, TXDOT shall have and may exercise all the rights and remedies

otherwise available to it under, or referenced in, this Tolling Services Agreement.

# (b) <u>TxDOT Default and Developer's Remedies</u>.

- TxDOT shall be in default under this Tolling Services Agreement in the (i) event (A) TxDOT fails to make any payment to Developer when due hereunder and the failure to pay continues for 30 days after Developer delivers written notice thereof to TxDOT; (B) any representation or warranty of TxDOT hereunder was not true when made and such failure has a material adverse effect on TxDOT's ability to perform its obligations in accordance with the requirements of this Tolling Services Agreement: (C) TxDOT assigns its rights and obligations under this Tolling Services Agreement in violation of this Tolling Services Agreement; or (D) TxDOT fails to perform any other obligation of TxDOT hereunder, and the failure to perform such other obligation continues for 30 days after Developer delivers written notice thereof to TxDOT, or if TxDOT has begun diligently pursuing a cure of such failure within such 30 days and continues to diligently pursue such cure, then 90 days after Developer delivers written notice thereof to TxDOT.
- (ii) In the event of a default by TxDOT under this Tolling Services Agreement, subject to Section 19(e), Developer shall be entitled to recover all losses and damages incurred as a result of TxDOT's default, with the amount of such damages to include, and not involve double counting of, all Delinquent Payment Deductions and Non-Compliance Deductions from the TxDOT Compensation made pursuant to Section 6 by reason of such default. For the avoidance of doubt, the application of Delinquent Payment Deductions and Non-Compliance Deductions under this Tolling Services Agreement shall constitute only a monetary offset and not a cure for the relevant event (and shall not be deemed to be an exclusive remedy).
- In the event of a default by TxDOT under this Tolling Services (iii) Agreement, Developer shall be entitled to all other rights and remedies available under this Tolling Services Agreement, at Law or in equity, including the right to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement for a default under Section 19(b)(i)(A), (B) or (C) or a material default under Section 19(b)(i)(D) (each of which rights and remedies shall be cumulative and in addition to any such other rights and remedies); provided that with respect to termination (A) Developer shall first deliver to TxDOT written notice of election to terminate, (B) termination shall be effective the first to occur of (1) 180 days after Developer delivers such notice to TxDOT, (2) the date Developer and/or its replacement contractor for toll collection and enforcement services is ready to commence performing such services, and (3) any other date specified by Developer, and (C) pending the effective date of termination, Developer shall continue to diligently work with TxDOT to perform the services hereunder, including assisting with transition of services as set forth in Section 3(c).

(iv) No remedy referred to in this <u>Section 19(b)</u> is intended to be exclusive, but, to the extent permissible hereunder and under applicable Laws, each remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to any other remedy referred to above or otherwise available to Developer under applicable Laws.

# (c) Remedial Measures.

- In the event that the number of Non-Compliance Points (determined (i) pursuant to Attachment 2), cured or uncured, assessed against TxDOT is greater than thirty percent (30%) of the total assessable Non-Compliance Points for each month in any period of three consecutive calendar months during the Term, then, at the Developer-TxDOT Regular Meeting following the third such calendar month, Developer may request TxDOT to prepare a plan for the correction of the applicable non-compliance and, in such case, TxDOT shall deliver to Developer such corrective plan no later than 15 days following Developer's request, and TxDOT thereafter shall implement such plan and exercise diligent efforts to correct the applicable non-compliance. In the event that the number of Non-Compliance Points, cured or uncured, assessed against TxDOT is not reduced to or below thirty percent (30%) of the total assessable Non-Compliance Points for the calendar month that is the second full calendar month following TxDOT's delivery of such corrective plan to Developer, then TxDOT shall prepare and submit to Developer for Developer's approval a remedial plan complying with the requirements of Section 19(c)(ii). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Non-Compliance number of Points (determined pursuant Attachment 2), cured or uncured, assessed against TxDOT is greater than fifty percent (50%) of the total assessable Non-Compliance Points for any month during the Term, then TxDOT shall thereupon prepare and submit to Developer for Developer's approval a remedial plan complying with the requirements of Section 19(c)(ii). Developer shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its approval of a remedial plan delivered pursuant to this Section 19(c)(i).
- (ii) The remedial plan shall set forth a schedule and specific actions to be taken by TxDOT to (A) reduce the number of monthly Non-Compliance Points in any calendar month to no more than thirty percent (30%) of the total assessable Non-Compliance Points, (B) reasonably assure performance at levels required by this Tolling Services Agreement, and (C) reasonably assure prevention of recurrence of Non-Compliance Points in excess of thirty percent (30%) of the total assessable Non-Compliance Points in any calendar month. Such actions may include improvements to TxDOT's quality management practices, plans and procedures, revising and restating management plans, changes in organizational and management structure, increased monitoring and inspections, changes in key personnel, changes in training programs, and replacement of contractors.
- (iii) TxDOT shall diligently and in good faith carry out all actions described in the approved remedial plan according to the schedule set forth in the remedial plan. If TxDOT shall fail to take any action described in the

- approved remedial plan in accordance with the schedule set forth in the remedial plan, then such failure shall constitute grounds for Developer to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (iv) TxDOT shall deliver to Developer a monthly written report, in reasonable detail, of TxDOT's progress in carrying out the approved remedial plan. At Developer's request, TxDOT shall allow Developer to inspect TxDOT's books and records, and monitor TxDOT's procedures and practices, to the extent relating to, and as reasonably required to verify proper implementation of, the remedial plan.
- Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 19(c) with (v) respect to TxDOT's preparation, submittal and implementation of the remedial plan provided for in the next to last sentence of Section 19(c)(i), if at the time TxDOT is required to submit such remedial plan to Developer hereunder, Developer is able to, and does, provide to TxDOT written evidence reasonably demonstrating that TxDOT's nonperformance under this Tolling Services Agreement has caused traffic on, and revenue from, the Facility to decrease, then TxDOT shall have 30 days thereafter to correct its non-performance, with the determination concerning whether such non-performance has been corrected to be based on whether TxDOT has reduced the number of Non-Compliance Points for such 30-day period to no more than thirty percent (30%) of the total assessable Non-Compliance Points. If TxDOT shall fail to correct such non-performance by the end of such 30-day period, then such failure shall constitute grounds for Developer to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement.

# (d) Interest and Late Charges.

- (i) Except as provided with respect to the Delinquent Payment Deduction, any sum owing from one Party to the other that is not paid when due shall bear interest at a floating rate equal to the LIBOR in effect from time to time, commencing on the date due and continuing until paid.
- (ii) In addition to interest, in the event either Party fails to pay to the other Party when due any amount set forth in an invoice received pursuant to Section 6(h) that is undisputed or is disputed but finally determined to be payable, such Party shall owe and pay to the other Party a one-time late charge equal to 3% of the undisputed amount or the amount finally determined to be payable, as applicable; provided, however, that if in connection with the resolution of any dispute between the Parties concerning any amount payable hereunder, the applicable Party from whom payment is owed shall deposit an amount equal to the amount in controversy into the Toll Operator Dispute Account and such amount is held therein and disbursed in accordance with the resolution of the related dispute, then such late charge shall not apply.

# (e) Limitations on Liability.

- (i) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Tolling Services Agreement and except as set forth in <a href="Section 19(e)(ii)">Section 19(e)(ii)</a>, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, neither Party shall be liable for punitive damages or special, indirect or incidental consequential damages or loss of profit or income arising out of breach of this Tolling Services Agreement, tort (including negligence) or any other theory of liability, and each Party hereby releases the other Party from any such liability.
- (ii) The foregoing limitation on liability for special, indirect and incidental consequential damages or loss of profit or income shall not apply to or limit any right of recovery one Party may have against the other Party under applicable Law respecting the following:
  - (A) Losses, damages, debts, obligations and liabilities (including defense costs) to the extent covered by the proceeds of insurance actually carried by or insuring the liable Party;
  - (B) Losses, damages, debts, obligations and liabilities arising out of fraud, criminal conduct, intentional misconduct, recklessness, bad faith or gross negligence;
  - Developer's obligation to pay compensation to TxDOT under this (C) Tolling Services Agreement as set forth in Section 6; provided, however, that to the extent pursuant to applicable Law TxDOT is entitled to claim from Developer damages that result from an early termination (other than an early termination due to a default by TxDOT hereunder) and constitute a measure of future compensation, the aggregate amount of such damages, if any, that may be payable to TxDOT for such lost future compensation in respect of the remaining period of the stated Term of this Tolling Services Agreement (without regard to such early termination hereof) following the date of any such termination hereof shall not exceed the TxDOT Prospective Compensation Damages Limit (and for the avoidance of doubt, it is acknowledged that such limitation applies only in respect of TxDOT's prospective compensation that would be lost as a consequence of the early termination of this Tolling Services Agreement, and such limitation shall not apply to limit any claims of TxDOT relating to (i) any compensation accrued and owing to TxDOT under this Tolling Services Agreement as of the date of any termination of this Agreement by TxDOT due to a default by Developer hereunder, (ii) amounts owing to TXDOT in connection with any such termination in respect of TxDOT's recoverable unamortized costs and expenses related to its services hereunder), or (iii) any Developer breach or failure to perform under the Agreement;
  - (D) Loss of Toll Revenues owing to Developer, attributable to a TxDOT breach or failure to perform;

- (E) Damages that are owing by a Party under another agreement or contract pertaining to the Facility (including, without limitation, the Agreement) or the services under this Tolling Services Agreement and that are incurred due to the other Party's breach of this Tolling Services Agreement;
- (F) Transition costs incurred by Developer or TxDOT upon its proper exercise of a right to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement;
- (G) In the event of Developer's proper exercise of a right to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement, costs Developer incurs to procure, hire, transition to and compensate a replacement service provider for comparable services for the remainder of the term after termination, to the extent the compensation exceeds that which would be owing to TxDOT for the remainder of the term, subject to the limitation that damages related to any difference in level of compensation of the replacement service provider shall not exceed the Replacement Provider Compensation Damages Limit;
- (H) Specific amounts either Party may owe or be obligated to reimburse to the other Party under the express provisions of this Tolling Services Agreement in respect of any period prior to termination;
- (I) Interest, late charges, fees, transaction fees and charges, penalties and similar charges that this Tolling Services Agreement expressly states are due from one Party to the other Party; and
- (J) Any credits, deductions or offsets that this Tolling Service Agreement expressly provides to a Party against amounts owing to the other Party.

### (f) Mitigation of Damages.

Each Party acknowledges its duty at law to mitigate damages arising out of the other Party's breach or failure to perform. For the benefit of TxDOT, both Parties also shall use reasonable efforts to mitigate damages in the event this Tolling Services Agreement is terminated by reason of a Termination for Convenience of the Agreement or termination of the Agreement due to TxDOT Default or suspension of work.

#### 20. Dispute Resolution

<u>Sections 17.7 and 17.8</u> of the Agreement, and the provisions referenced therein, shall govern all disputes under this Tolling Services Agreement and are hereby incorporated by reference as though set forth in full herein, except that:

(a) Wherever the term "the CDA Documents" is used it is replaced with the phrase "this Tolling Services Agreement;"

- (b) <u>Section 17.8.1.5(b)</u> of the Agreement is changed to read, "Any claim or dispute that does not arise under this Tolling Services Agreement or the CDA Documents;"
- (c) The following language is added to <u>Section 17.8.4.1(a)</u> of the Agreement: "Wherever in the Disputes Board Agreement there is a reference to the Agreement and/or specific sections of the Agreement, for purposes of Disputes under this Tolling Services Agreement it shall be deemed to refer to this Tolling Services Agreement and the provisions of <u>Section 17.8</u> of the Agreement incorporated herein;" and
- (d) Wherever the term "Effective Date" is used it is replaced with the phrase "date this Tolling Services Agreement is executed."

# 21. [RESERVED]

# 22. Malfunction, Damage or Destruction of TxDOT Facilities

- (a) Refer to Section 7(a) regarding procedures to be followed where Developer does not receive acknowledgment of receipt by TxDOT's CSC Host of Transactions properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD. In addition to such procedures, at TxDOT's request Developer shall attempt retransmission of any such Transaction every two hours for a period of 24 hours after the first time Developer properly transmits the Transaction in accordance with the ICD.
- (b) TxDOT shall be entitled to the relief set forth in <u>Section 22(d)</u> in the following circumstances:
  - (i) TxDOT's customer service center or information technology system used to provide the services set forth in this Tolling Services Agreement, or the building in which such customer service center or information technology system is housed, is physically damaged or destroyed or otherwise precluded from processing Transactions due to a state of public emergency and as a result thereof TxDOT is rendered unable to normally receive or process Transactions for payment;
  - (ii) The event causing the damage, destruction or state of public emergency (and the effects of such event) (A) are not caused by the negligence or willful misconduct or other culpability of TxDOT or its officers, employees, agents or representatives, and (B) could not have been avoided by the exercise of caution, due diligence or reasonable care or efforts by TxDOT; and
  - (iii) The inability to render such services continues for a period in excess of two consecutive days.
- (c) TxDOT shall take all steps reasonably necessary to mitigate the consequences of the foregoing circumstances, including implementing its emergency backup and recovery systems and procedures. TxDOT shall bear the costs of repair to

and restoration of its own facilities required as a consequence of the events and occurrences contemplated by this Section.

- (d) If TxDOT establishes that the circumstances described in <u>Section 22(b)</u> exist, then:
  - TxDOT shall be entitled to an extension of time to make payments to (i) Developer regarding Transactions that it is rendered unable to normally receive or process for payment due to such circumstances, provided that such extension of time shall apply only to Transactions that occur up to the 30<sup>th</sup> consecutive day that TxDOT is unable to normally receive or process Transactions for payment. For those Transactions for which TxDOT is entitled to an extension of time, it shall make payment to Developer for the toll charges associated with such Transactions on the first to occur of (A) five Business Days after TxDOT restores service and receives the Transaction at TxDOT's CSC Host or TxDOT's back-up system, or (B) the date that is the later of (1) 30 days after the Transaction occurs and (2) five Business Days after the date Developer delivers to TxDOT in digital form the data for the Transaction that would have been received at TxDOT's CSC Host absent the foregoing circumstances.
  - (ii) All toll charges whose payment is deferred pursuant to this <u>Section 22(d)</u>, as a consequence of the circumstances described in <u>Section 22(b)</u>, beyond the date payment would otherwise be due under <u>Section 6</u> shall bear interest at a floating rate equal to the LIBOR in effect from time to time, commencing on the date it would be due absent the deferral and continuing until paid. TxDOT shall pay such interest concurrently with its payment of the deferred toll charges.
  - (iii) Non-Compliance Points shall not be assessed against TxDOT as a result of inability to perform its obligations due solely and directly to the circumstances described in Section 22(b).
  - (iv) For the avoidance of doubt, if any payments owing by TxDOT are delayed due to a malfunction that is not attributable to the circumstances described in Section 22(b), then TxDOT shall not be excused from any penalties or other consequences of such delayed payment provided for in this Tolling Services Agreement, (including, as applicable, the Delinquent Payment Deductions and any rights and remedies Developer may have hereunder).
- (e) During any period that TxDOT is unable to normally receive or process Transactions for payment, or to render other services hereunder, due to the circumstances described in <a href="Section 22(b)">Section 22(b)</a>, Developer shall be free to seek and obtain temporary substitute services elsewhere. TxDOT shall have no right to compensation, and no liability for payment to Developer, respecting Transactions that Developer chooses to process through any such substitute service provider. If TxDOT remains unable to normally receive or process Transactions for payment, or to render other services hereunder, due to the circumstances described in <a href="Section 22(b)">Section 22(b)</a>, for more than 90 consecutive days, then

notwithstanding that such situation shall not constitute a default by TxDOT, (i) Developer shall have the right to terminate this Tolling Services Agreement and (ii) TxDOT shall reimburse Developer all costs and expenses Developer incurs in connection with the transfer of the services, functions, rights and responsibilities to Developer, its contractors or designee; provided, however, that TxDOT shall not be liable for any such transfer costs and expenses in excess of the amount that is equal to 200% of the amount that could reasonably be expected to be incurred in connection with any such transfer from NTTA to TxDOT.

# 23. Assignment; New Tolling Services Agreement

- (a) Developer shall have the right to assign this Tolling Services Agreement only to the extent that it is permitted to assign the Developer's Interest pursuant to Section 21 of the Agreement.
- (b) Any acceptance by a Lender or any of their respective successors, assigns or designees of assignment of this Tolling Services Agreement pursuant to Section 23(a) shall not operate to make the assignee responsible or liable for any breach hereof by Developer or for any amounts due and owing hereunder for work or services rendered prior to assumption (but without restriction on TxDOT's rights to suspend work or demobilize due to Developer's uncured default).
- (c) TxDOT acknowledges that this Tolling Services Agreement is for the personal services of TxDOT. Accordingly, TxDOT shall have the right to assign this Tolling Services Agreement only as follows:
  - (i) Without Developer's consent, to any other Person that succeeds to (A) all the governmental powers and authority of TxDOT or (B) all the tolling service functions and operations of TxDOT in the State; and
  - (ii) To any other Person only with the prior written consent of Developer in its sole discretion.
- (d) No assignment shall relieve the assigning Party from any liability under this Tolling Services Agreement arising prior to the effective date of assignment, or impair any of the other Party's rights or remedies due to the assigning Party's default occurring prior to the effective date of assignment.
- (e) If (i) the CDA Documents and this Tolling Services Agreement are terminated under circumstances in which, under the terms of <a href="Section 20.4.8">Section 20.4.8</a> of the Agreement, a Lender or Substituted Entity would have the option to enter into New Agreements with TxDOT, and (ii) such Lender or Substituted Entity elects under <a href="Section 20.4.8">Section 20.4.8</a> of the Agreement to enter into New Agreements, then such Lender or Substituted Entity and TxDOT also shall enter into a new Tolling Services Agreement (the "New TSA"), subject to the following: (A) the New TSA shall be effective as of the date of termination of this Tolling Services Agreement and shall be for the remainder of the term of this Tolling Services Agreement, and otherwise shall be on the terms, covenants and conditions contained in this Tolling Services Agreement; (B) as a condition to the effectiveness of the New TSA and upon the execution of the New TSA by such Lender or Substituted

Entity and TxDOT, such Lender or Substituted Entity shall pay to TxDOT any and all sums that would be due under this Tolling Services Agreement but for such termination and shall otherwise fully remedy any existing defaults by Developer under this Tolling Services Agreement (provided, however, that with respect to any such defaults by Developer that cannot be cured until such Lender or Substituted Entity obtains possession of the Facility, such Lender or Substituted Entity shall have such time, after it obtains possession, as is necessary with the exercise of good faith, diligence and continuity, to cure such defaults, in any event not to exceed 180 days after the date it obtains possession); and (C) as a condition to the effectiveness of the New TSA and upon the execution of the New TSA by such Lender or Substituted Entity and TxDOT, without duplication of any amounts previously paid by Developer, such Lender or Substituted Entity shall pay to TxDOT all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by TxDOT in connection with (1) Developer's default and the termination of this Tolling Services Agreement, (2) the assertion of rights, interests and defenses in any bankruptcy proceeding, (3) all TxDOT Compensation earned by TxDOT during any period of possession of the Facility by TxDOT, except to the extent recovered by TxDOT from Toll Revenues earned during such period of possession, and (4) the preparation, execution and delivery of the New TSA. Upon request of the applicable Lender or Substituted Entity. TxDOT will provide a written, documented statement of the costs and expenses described in clause (C) of the preceding sentence. In the event this Tolling Services Agreement is terminated as a result of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding of Developer in which the Agreement is not terminated and New Agreements are not to be entered into by a Lender or Substituted Entity under Section 20.4.8 of the Agreement, then, without limiting any obligation of Developer, any Lender or any Substituted Entity under applicable law to enter into a new Tolling Services Agreement with TxDOT, upon a Lender's or Substituted Entity's written request delivered to TxDOT within 60 days of such termination, such Lender or Substituted Entity and TxDOT shall enter into a New TSA subject to the terms and conditions set forth in clauses (A) through (C) of the second preceding sentence (and TxDOT will reasonably cooperate with Lender or such Substituted Entity in Lender's or such Substituted Entity's procurement of any court, trustee or regulatory approvals required for such New TSA, subject to Lender's or such Substituted Entity's payment of the reasonable costs and expenses of TxDOT incurred in connection therewith). The provisions of this Section 23(e) shall survive the termination of this Tolling Services Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect thereafter to the same extent as if this Section 23(e) were a separate and independent contract made by TxDOT and the Lender or Substituted Entity.

# 24. Special Provisions for Compliance with Agreement

(a) TxDOT agrees to recognize and attorn to any Lender upon receipt of written notice from the Lender that it has exercised step-in rights under the Agreement. If TxDOT receives any such notice, it shall have no obligation to obtain Developer's consent or approval, and no obligation to determine whether the Lender validly exercised its step-in rights. Developer hereby waives and releases any claim or cause of action against TxDOT arising out of or relating to its recognition and attornment in reliance on any such written notice.

(b) This Tolling Services Agreement shall automatically terminate, without further notice, upon any termination of the Agreement, without liability of TxDOT for any Developer lost profits, lost business opportunity or any other loss, damage, cost or expense (without prejudice to Termination Compensation under the Agreement); and without liability of Developer for any TxDOT loss, damage cost or expense, except for TxDOT's unamortized costs described in <a href="Section 18(a)(ii)">Section 18(a)(ii)</a>, (without prejudice to TxDOT's right to damages under the Agreement).

#### 25. Labor Practices

- (a) TxDOT at all times shall comply, and require by contract that all its subcontractors and vendors performing services under this Tolling Services Agreement comply, with all applicable federal and State labor, occupational safety and health standards, rules, regulations and federal and State orders.
- (b) TxDOT shall not, and shall cause any subcontractor to not, discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, religion or handicap in the performance of the services under this Tolling Services Agreement. TxDOT shall carry out, and shall cause its subcontractors to carry out, applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26. Failure by TxDOT to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this Tolling Services Agreement, which may result in termination hereof or such other remedy permitted hereunder as Developer deems appropriate. TxDOT shall include this provision in every subcontract (including purchase orders) pertaining to the services under this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (c) TxDOT confirms for itself and all subcontractors providing services under this Tolling Services Agreement that TxDOT and each such subcontractor has an equal employment opportunity policy ensuring equal employment opportunity without regard to race, color, national origin, sex, age, religion or handicap; and that TxDOT and each such subcontractor maintains no employee facilities segregated on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, religion or handicap. TxDOT shall comply with all applicable Equal Employment Opportunity and nondiscrimination provisions set forth in Exhibit 8 to the Agreement, and shall require such subcontractors to comply with such provisions.

### 26. Designation of Authorized Representatives

TxDOT and Developer shall each designate an individual or individuals who shall be authorized to make decisions and bind the Parties on matters relating to this Tolling Services Agreement ("Authorized Representative"). Attachment 7 to this Tolling Services Agreement provides the initial Authorized Representative designations. A Party may change such designations by a subsequent writing delivered to the other Party in accordance with Section 27. The Parties shall cause their respective Authorized Representatives to cooperate and coordinate with one another in the administration of this Tolling Services Agreement.

# 27. Notices

(a) Any communication, notice or demand of any kind whatsoever under this Tolling Services Agreement shall be in writing and delivered by personal service (including express or courier service), by electronic communication, whether by facsimile or electronic-mail (if confirmed in writing sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested), or by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:

If to the	e Developer:		
	Attention:	)	
With copies to:			
	Attention:	)	
If to TxDOT:			
	-		
	Attention: Telephone: ( Facsimile: (	)	
With copies to:			
	Attention: _		
	Telephone: (Facsimile: (	)	

or to such other addresses and such other places as any party hereto may from time to time designate by written notice to the others.

(b) All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Tolling Services Agreement which are addressed as provided in this <u>Section 27</u> are effective upon delivery, if delivered personally or by overnight mail, facsimile or

electronic mail and, are effective five days following deposit in the United States mail, postage prepaid if delivered by mail.

### 28. Amendment

This Tolling Services Agreement may be amended only if in writing executed by Developer and TxDOT.

#### 29. Independent Engineer

As soon as practicable following the Parties' execution and delivery of this Tolling Services Agreement, and in any event no later than 6 months thereafter, the Parties shall engage an independent third party engineering firm (the "Independent Engineer") to provide the services that this Tolling Services Agreement states are to be provided by the Independent Engineer. The Independent Engineer shall have at least ten years' experience in the provision of services that are the same as those contemplated to be provided by the Independent Engineer hereunder. The Parties shall engage the Independent Engineer pursuant to a three-party agreement among, and containing terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to, Developer, TxDOT and the Independent Engineer (the "Independent Engineer Agreement"), which Independent Engineer Agreement shall provide for, among other things, the right by each Party to unilaterally remove the then acting Independent Engineer (i) for cause or (ii) once every five years without cause; provided, however, that in connection with the removal and replacement of the Independent Engineer without cause, the Party effecting the removal shall bear the costs and expenses of both Parties that are related to the engagement of a successor Independent Engineer. The Independent Engineer Agreement shall include provision for the equal allocation, between Developer and TxDOT, of the costs and expenses of the Independent Engineer in the performance of its services under the Independent Engineer Agreement. The Independent Engineer engaged by the Parties pursuant to the terms hereof may be, but shall not be required to be, the same Person engaged as the Independent Engineer (as defined in the Agreement) under the Agreement. The Independent Engineer is to perform the functions provided for under this Tolling Services Agreement and the Independent Engineer Agreement and to assist and advise the Parties concerning its findings and recommendations. The Independent Engineer's determinations are not final and binding. If there is a continuing disagreement between the Parties concerning any matter subject to review by the Engineer following the Independent Engineer's review recommendation in respect thereof, such disagreement shall be resolved pursuant to Section 20. The Parties agree not to disclose the findings, reports or other work product of the Independent Engineer to any person other than a Permitted Person; provided, however, that such non-disclosure restriction shall not apply to any information as and to the extent required to be disclosed by applicable law or to information that becomes public other than by virtue of a breach of this restriction, and such non-disclosure restriction also shall not preclude disclosure of information to any applicable arbitrator or court in a dispute resolution proceeding pursuant to Section 20. Permitted Persons shall be informed of the confidential nature of the information disclosed to them and shall be required to agree to act in accordance with the provisions of the foregoing nondisclosure provisions with respect to such information.

# 30. Non-Disparagement

Each Party agrees not to make any statement, written or oral, to any third party which disparages or criticizes the other Party or the other Party's respective officers, directors, agents, or management and business practices, in each case in connection with the performance or administration of this Tolling Services Agreement or in connection with any matter related hereto. The provisions of this <u>Section 30</u> shall not apply to any truthful statement required to be made by either Party, or such Party's officers, directors or agents, as the case may be, in any legal proceeding or governmental or regulatory investigation or to any internal discussions or communications between the Parties.

### 31. Governing Law

The laws of the State of Texas shall govern this Tolling Services Agreement.

# 32. Interpretation

- (a) The title headings of the respective paragraphs of this Tolling Services Agreement are inserted for convenience only, and shall not be deemed to be part of this Tolling Services Agreement or considered in construing this Tolling Services Agreement.
- (b) Wherever the word "including," "includes" or "include" is used in this Tolling Services Agreement, it shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation".
- (c) All references to "Section" or "subsection" means the Section or subsection of this Tolling Services Agreement unless specifically provided otherwise.
- (d) This Tolling Services Agreement includes all the Attachments hereto.

# 33. Counterparts

This Tolling Services Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which together shall be deemed an original.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, have executed this Tolling Services Agreement as of the date first written above.

A44 4.	TxDOT	
Attest:	TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,	
Secretary	By:	
APPROVED AS TO FORM:	Name: Title:	
Ву:		
	Developer	
	NTE MOBILITY PARTNERS LLC	
	By:	
	Name: Title:	
	Ву:	
	Name:	
	Title:	

#### **Definitions**

## Definitions from Agreement

The following lists the capitalized terms that are used in this Tolling Services Agreement and defined in the Agreement:

**Affiliate** 

**CDA Documents** 

Change in Law

Chief Executive Officer of Developer

Contractor

**Customer Groups** 

Day or day

Developer's Interest

Directive Letter

Disputes Board

Disputes Board Agreement

**Disputes Board Decision** 

Disputes Board Member Conflict of Interest

Disputes Board Member Misconduct

Dispute Resolution Procedures

Proposal Due Date

Electronic Toll Collection System, or ETCS

**Executive Director** 

**Exempt Vehicles** 

Facility

**Facility Segment** 

Facility Trust Agreement

Fast-Track Dispute

Force Majeure Event

Good Industry Practice

Grounds for Appeal

Incidental Charges

Informal Resolution Procedures

Laws

Lender

**New Agreements** 

NTTA

Person

Service Commencement

Service Commencement Date

Special Vehicles

Substituted Entity

**Technical Documents** 

**Technical Provisions** 

Termination for Convenience

Toll Revenue

Toll Revenue Account

User

Texas Department of Transportation North Tarrant Express – Concession Facility Attachment 1 to EXHIBIT 23 Concession CDA Amended and Restated Ex. 23 Tolling Services Agreement User Classification User

Additional Definitions are as follows:

<u>Agreement</u> means the certain Comprehensive Development Agreement dated June 23, 2009 between Developer and TxDOT concerning the Facility, as the same may be amended, supplemented and otherwise modified in writing from time to time.

<u>Amendment</u>	No.	12	means	an	Amendm	ent	No.	12	to	Comprehensi	ve Devel	opment
Agreement, N	lorth T	arrar	nt Expre	ss S	Segments	1&2V	V M	anag	ed	Lanes Project,	between	<b>TxDOT</b>
and Develope	r date	d			_, 201							

<u>Authorized Representative</u> means the individuals authorized to make decisions and bind the Parties on matters relating to this Tolling Services Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 26</u>.

Average Monthly TxDOT Compensation means (i) after this Tolling Services Agreement has been in effect for a period of at least 12 full calendar months following the Service Commencement Date for the Facility, one twelfth (1/12) of the total TxDOT Compensation for the 12 full calendar months immediately preceding the termination of this Tolling Services Agreement requiring a determination of the Average Monthly TxDOT Compensation or (ii) prior to such time as this Tolling Services Agreement has been in effect for 12 full calendar months following the Service Commencement Date for the Facility, the monthly average of the TxDOT Compensation for the number of full calendar months during which this Tolling Services Agreement has been in effect following the Service Commencement Date for the Facility prior to the termination of this Tolling Services Agreement requiring a determination of the Average Monthly TxDOT Compensation.

Average Monthly TxDOT Cost of Services means (i) after this Tolling Services Agreement has been in effect for a period of at least 12 full calendar months following the Service Commencement Date for the Facility, one twelfth (1/12) of TxDOT's total cost of providing services hereunder for the 12 full calendar months immediately preceding the termination of this Tolling Services Agreement requiring a determination of the Average Monthly TxDOT Cost of Services or (ii) prior to such time as this Tolling Services Agreement has been in effect for 12 full calendar months following the Service Commencement Date for the Facility, the monthly average of TxDOT's total cost of providing services hereunder for the number of full calendar months during which this Tolling Services Agreement has been in effect following the Service Commencement Date for the Facility prior to the termination of this Tolling Services Agreement requiring a determination of the Average Monthly TxDOT Cost of Services. TxDOT's total cost of providing services used for purposes of determining the Average Monthly TxDOT Cost of Services shall not include any costs that otherwise would be included in the total cost of providing services hereunder that have actually been recovered by TxDOT through the collection of Incidental Charges; provided, however, that TxDOT's Video Transaction collection risk shall be excluded from such cost of providing such services (but with the costs being so excluded being only (a) Video Transaction tolls not collected by TxDOT and (b) the costs of collection (such as, for example and not in limitation, administration, processing and enforcement costs) thereof to the extent that such costs of collection are actually recovered from Incidental Charges imposed for this purpose at rates charged by TxDOT consistent with TxDOT's practices in respect of its own facilities (and to the extent such costs of collection are not so recovered, such costs shall be included in such cost of providing such services), and provided further, that due to the exclusion of such Video Transaction collection risk from TxDOT's cost of providing services,

TxDOT's cost of providing services shall not be reduced by Incidental Charges actually recovered by TxDOT in respect of such collection risk).

Base Transaction Fee has the meaning set forth in Section 6(b).

Business Day means a day on which TxDOT is officially open for business.

<u>Candidate Vehicle</u> means a vehicle for which Developer transmits one of the following to TxDOT's CSC Host:

- (a) A valid Transponder Transaction; or
- (b) (i) a Video Transaction with an unobstructed readable video image of a license plate that bears a serialized or personalized plate number and means to identify the issuing jurisdiction, which in the case of a vehicle with a trailer (including a truck with a trailer) must be the front license plate, and (ii) video data as required by the ICD.

For this purpose, a "readable video image" means an image produced by the VES and transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in which both plate number and issuing jurisdiction can be reliably read electronically or by the human eye.

<u>Change Directive</u> means a written direction signed by Developer directing a change in the services that complies with the requirements of <u>Section 17(a)</u>.

<u>Change Order</u> means a written order issued by Developer to TxDOT delineating changes in services or in technical terms and conditions (including changes in the standards) applicable to the services in accordance with <u>Section 17</u> and establishing, if appropriate, an adjustment to TxDOT's compensation in accordance with <u>Section 17</u>.

<u>Claim</u> means (a) a demand by Developer, which is or potentially could be disputed by TxDOT, for payment of money or damages from TxDOT to Developer, or (b) a demand by TxDOT, which is or potentially could be disputed by Developer, for payment of money or damages from Developer to TxDOT.

Consolidated Master List has the meaning set forth in Section 12(d).

<u>Custodial Arrangements</u> means the arrangements TxDOT is to put into effect, as and when set forth in <u>Section 8.7.8</u> of the Agreement, with its custodian of accounts for TxDOT's transponder account customers for the handling and remittance of debits for Transponder Transactions and of payments from Users for Video Transactions and from Special Vehicle operators, the purpose of which is to cause amounts so debited or received to be held in trust by the custodian until it deposits such amounts to the Toll Revenue Account or Toll Operator Dispute Account under the Facility Trust Agreement, without at any point becoming property or assets of TxDOT or the State.

<u>Cutover Date</u> means the date all applicable services, functions, rights and responsibilities of the NTTA have been properly transferred to TxDOT and TxDOT commences providing services under this Tolling Services Agreement for the Facility.

<u>Cutover Deadline</u> means the "New Cutover Deadline" as defined and determined in Amendment No. 12, including any extension pursuant to <u>Section 3 or 4(b)</u> of Amendment No. 12, as such date may be extended pursuant to <u>Section 12(c)</u>.

Delinquent Payment Deduction has the meaning set forth in Section 6(d).

**Developer** means NTE Mobility Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

**Developer-TxDOT Regular Meeting** has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 4(k)</u>.

<u>Dispute</u> means any Claim, dispute, disagreement or controversy between TxDOT and Developer concerning their respective rights and obligations under this Tolling Services Agreement, including concerning any alleged breach or failure to perform and remedies.

<u>Duplicate Transaction</u> means any circumstances resulting in more than one Transaction generated from the same vehicle within two minutes at the same general location (e.g., same or adjacent lane).

<u>Emergency Mode</u> means the period and circumstances when tolls are suspended on the Facility or a portion of the Facility in accordance with Section 3.4 of the Agreement.

<u>Facility Cash Collateral Sub-Account</u> has the meaning set forth in Section 16 of the NTTA Tolling Services Agreement.

### Incidental Charges means:

- (a) Reasonable amounts for the purchase or rental of transponders or other electronic toll devices;
- (b) Reasonable, refundable security deposits for the distribution of transponders or other electronic toll devices;
- (c) Reasonable administrative fees for account maintenance and account statements;
- (d) Reasonable fees, penalties and interest for toll violations, including costs of collection:
- (e) Amounts, with respect to Video Transactions, reasonably necessary for TxDOT to recover (i) its reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses and (ii) a reasonable amount to reflect its collection risk.
- (f) Other reasonable fees and charges for customary incidental services to Users for whom TxDOT manages electronic tolling accounts (on the same basis as uniformly charged with respect to TxDOT's own facilities).

Without limiting the requirements in the preceding provisions of this definition to charge reasonable fees, charges, penalties, interest or other amounts, TxDOT shall determine and assess Incidental Charges under this Tolling Services Agreement consistent with its practices in respect of its own facilities.

Independent Engineer has the meaning set forth in Section 29.

<u>Independent Engineer Agreement</u> has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 29</u>.

Intellectual Property Rights means all intellectual property rights throughout the world, including all copyrights, copyright registrations and applications, patent rights, know-how, trade secrets, author's rights, algorithms, computer software and other intellectual property rights, as may exist now or hereafter come into existence, and all renewals and extensions thereof.

<u>Interface Control Document</u> or <u>ICD</u> means the version of the document attached as <u>Attachment 3</u> most recently adopted by TxDOT prior to execution of this Tolling Services Agreement setting forth interface standards for TxDOT's CSC Host and the ETCS, including the manner in which data shall be transmitted and received between TxDOT's CSC Host and the ETCS, as such document may be revised or updated by TxDOT from time to time.

Interoperability Functions means electronic funds transfer and clearing functions and capabilities established and operated by TxDOT to enable the settlement and payment to the trustee under the Facility Trust Agreement of electronic toll charges for Transponder Transactions on the Facility by vehicles equipped with transponders issued by Toll Operators and Transponder Issuers other than TxDOT.

<u>Interoperable Transactions</u> means Transactions involving Toll Operators other than TxDOT; except that if TxDOT's provision of services under this Tolling Services Agreement has been suspended or terminated, "Interoperable Transactions" means Transactions involving Toll Operators other than an entity that is providing tolling services under this Tolling Services Agreement at the time of such a Transaction.

Interoperable Transponder Transactions means Transponder Transactions involving transponders of Transponder Issuers other than TxDOT; except that if TxDOT's provision of services under this Tolling Services Agreement has been suspended or terminated, "Interoperable Transponder Transactions" means Transponder Transactions involving transponders of Transponder Issuers other than an entity that is providing tolling services under this Tolling Services Agreement at the time of such a Transaction. "Interoperable Transponder Transactions" includes Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions. Interoperable Transponder Transactions are a subset of Interoperable Transactions.

**New TSA** has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 23(e)</u>.

Non-Compliance Deduction has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 6(e)</u>.

<u>Non-Compliance Points</u> has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 6(e)</u> and <u>Attachment 2</u> to this Tolling Services Agreement.

NTTA Tolling Services Agreement means a Tolling Services Agreement for Segments 1 and
2W of the North Tarrant Express Managed Lanes Project between Developer and the NTTA
dated June 23, 2009, as amended and supplemented by an Agreement Regarding NTE 1&2W
TSA Transition Planning, Performance Security and Amendments between Developer and the
NTTA dated, 2018, and as the same may be further amended from time to time
with TxDOT's prior written approval in accordance with Section 8.2.2.3 of the Agreement and
with TxDOT's prior review and comment in accordance with Section 10.3.3.1 of the Agreement
The NTTA Tolling Services Agreement is an O&M Contract.

<u>Open Book Basis</u> means allowing each Party to review all underlying assumptions and data of the other Party associated with pricing or compensation (whether of Developer or TxDOT) or adjustments thereto, including assumptions and data as to marginal costs or other applicable costs, composition of equipment spreads, equipment rates, labor rates, productivity, estimating factors, design and productivity allowance, contingency and indirect costs, risk pricing, discount rates, interest rates, inflation and deflation rates, traffic volumes by User Classification, Toll Revenues, changes in toll rates, and other items reasonably required to satisfy the Party as to the reasonableness of the amount.

<u>Party</u> means Developer or TxDOT, as the context may require, and "<u>Parties</u>" means Developer and TxDOT, collectively.

Patron Confidential Information has the meaning set forth in Section 4(n)(i).

<u>Payment Period</u> means each calendar month during the Term of this Tolling Services Agreement from and after the Service Commencement Date for the Facility, which shall include (if such Service Commencement Date occurs on a date other than the first day of a calendar month), the partial calendar month from and after the Service Commencement Date and which also shall include any partial calendar month at the end of the Term.

<u>Performance Standards</u> means the requirements, measures and standards for TxDOT's performance set forth in <u>Attachment 2</u> to this Tolling Services Agreement.

<u>Permitted Person</u> for purposes of <u>Section 29</u> of this Tolling Services Agreement means (i) the partners, members, shareholders, directors, managers, officers, employees, advisors and consultants of the Parties who have a reasonable need to know the related information, (ii) accountants, attorneys, consultants and other professionals rendering services in connection with the Facility or this Tolling Services Agreement and (iii) lenders and potential lenders to the Facility or to the applicable Party.

Pre-Transition NTTA Transponder Transactions has the meaning set forth in Section 16(b).

Replacement Provider Compensation Damages Limit means the excess, if any, of the compensation payable to a replacement service provider (as described in Section 19(e)(ii)(G)) and the compensation that would have been payable to TxDOT hereunder for the period of time equal to the greater of zero or (a) 60 months minus (b) the number of months elapsed in the Term between the Cutover Date and the effective date of termination of this Tolling Services Agreement, utilizing regular rates of compensation of such replacement service provider.

<u>Service Year</u> means (a) the period from the effective date of Amendment No. 12 through December 31, 2018, and (b) each 12 month period thereafter during the Term commencing on January 1 of each year and ending on the following December 31 of that year.

Statewide Confidentiality Protocols has the meaning set forth in Section 4(n)(ii).

**Term** has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 3(a)</u>.

<u>Tolling Services Agreement</u> means this Tolling Services Agreement between TxDOT and Developer.

<u>Toll Operator</u> means any Person, including TxDOT and Developer, who or which (a) manages and operates a tolled roadway in the State of Texas and (b) participates with TxDOT in interoperability protocols, agreements and arrangements.

<u>Toll Operator Dispute Account</u> means the trust account by that name established or to be established under the Facility Trust Agreement.

<u>Transaction</u> means either a Transponder Transaction or a Video Transaction; and <u>Transactions</u> means all Transponder Transactions and Video Transactions.

<u>Transponder Issuer</u> means any Person, including TxDOT and Developer, who or which (a) issues transponders for mounting in vehicles and transacting Transponder Transactions on any tolled roadway in the State of Texas and (b) participates with TxDOT in interoperability protocols, agreements and arrangements.

<u>Transponder Transaction</u> means each electronic record, which may include video images and video data that together constitute one toll payable from a customer, that are properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD (including where the transmission is not received due to problems, downtime or other malfunction of TxDOT's CSC Host) respecting a vehicle that (a) passes through a toll lane on the Facility, (b) is equipped with a transponder issued by a Transponder Issuer, and (c) has a sufficient account balance at the time of posting or re-posting to pay in full the applicable toll rate.

**TxDOT** means the Texas Department of Transportation.

TxDOT Compensation has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).

TxDOT Prospective Compensation Damages Limit means the greater of the following:

- (a) The amount determined by subtracting (i) the Average Monthly TxDOT Cost of Services from (ii) the Average Monthly TxDOT Compensation and multiplying the difference by 60; or
- (b) The amount determined by multiplying (i) the Average Monthly TxDOT Compensation by (ii) ten percent (10%) and then multiplying the product so obtained by 60.

<u>TxDOT's CSC Host</u> means the central computer system of TxDOT that supports customer service center account management functions for toll road facilities owned or operated by TxDOT.

<u>Unpostable Transponder Transaction</u> means a Transponder Transaction that cannot be posted to an TxDOT customer account due to reasons other than malfunctions of TxDOT's CSC Host.

Variable Transaction Fee has the meaning set forth in Section 6(c).

<u>Video Transaction</u> means each electronic record of a toll and set of contemporaneous video images of license plates and other video data (as required by the ICD) that are properly transmitted to TxDOT's CSC Host in accordance with the ICD (including where the transmission is not received due to problems, downtime or other malfunction of TxDOT's CSC Host)

respecting (a) a Candidate Vehicle under <u>subsection (b)</u> of the definition of Candidate Vehicle that passes through a toll lane on the Facility, (b) a vehicle that passes through a toll lane on the Facility and is equipped with a transponder that is (i) issued by a Transponder Issuer and (ii) associated with an account not closed at the time of transmission but having an insufficient account balance at the time of debit and re-debits to pay in full the applicable toll rate, or (c) a vehicle that passes through a toll lane on the Facility and is equipped with a transponder that is issued by a Transponder Issuer other than TxDOT but the Transponder Issuer for any reason fails to transmit to TxDOT the full toll for the Transaction by the deadline by which it is obligated to do so under its interoperability protocols and agreements with TxDOT.

# **Performance Standards and Non-Compliance Points**

	Performance Standard	Std.	Points
1.	Non-Compliance Deduction; Related Non-Compliance Points		
than ten min	5% of walk in customers at the "store front" kept waiting for greater outes before being seen by TxDOT staff, as demonstrated by iable random sampling each month.	<5% greater than 10 mins.	4
	ncy - 70/30 service level with 70% of calls to be answered within 30	70% in 30 seconds	3
	ervice requests via TxDOT's Online CSC will be responded to within	within 2 business days	3
4. 95% of cus	stomer service requests via email, facsimile, and postal mail will be within 2 business days.	within 2 business days	2
5. Customer s manned in-pe published hou	Service Hours – operating sales office with walk in customer service erson Monday through Friday and on Saturday during the same ars applicable for such service for TxDOT's other tolled facilities, OT-observed holidays		1
6. Customer S and on Saturd TxDOT's othe availability of and/or IVR rec possible excep	Service Hours – manned telephone coverage Monday through Friday day during the same published hours applicable for such service for r tolled facilities, excluding TxDOT-observed holidays, and 24 hour interactive voice response (IVR) system. Faults to telephone line cified as soon as possible but no later than within 24 hours, with the potion of faults outside of scheduled maintenance and failures due to equipment or failures outside TxDOT's control.	within 24 hours	1
7. 24X7 avail English and S account, char statements, a TxDOT Online failures due to	lability of secure customer access through TxDOT Online CSC (in Spanish) for account maintenance purposes (including opening an an inging information on an account, viewing account status and and replenishing an account balance, etc.). Faults that result in a CSC being unavailable (outside of scheduled maintenance and non-TxDOT equipment or failures outside TxDOT's control) rectified	within 24 hours	3
8. 24X7 availa possible but r	ssible but no later than within 24 hours.  Ibility to receive email. Faults to email availability rectified as soon as no later than within 24 hours. Exceptions include faults outside of sintenance and failures due to non-TxDOT equipment or failures	within 24 hours	1
9. 24X7 availa soon as poss outside of sch	ability to receive facsimile. Faults to facsimile availability rectified as sible but no later than within 24 hours. Exceptions include faults neduled maintenance and failures due to non-TxDOT equipment or e TxDOT's control.	within 24 hours	1
	don rate less than or equal to 4%.	< or = 4%	2
11. 96% of e	escalations received via the Service Recovery Process receive a in one Business Day.	96%	2
12. 96% of	Customer Service Specialists will have at least two customer onitored each month.	96%	3
13. The TxDC monitoring rat form appended with similar concepts in mean "TxTag. Developer, which is the comment at least onder this Per	OT Customer Service Center shall maintain a 80% or higher quality ing each month, based on evaluations using the quality monitoring of to this Attachment 2 as Appendix A or other quality monitoring form ontent, as such form may be amended by TxDOT from time to time. Appendix A to "NTTA" shall mean "TOD," and to "Toll Tag" shall "Each such amendment to such form shall require consent from hich shall not be unreasonably withheld. Provided TxDOT has been been as a days before the effectiveness of the applicable amendment formance Standard, Developer shall be deemed to have consented osed amendment if Developer has not submitted to TxDOT its	>80%	3

objection, together with any comments thereon, within ten days after Developer's receipt thereof.		
14. TxDOT CSC Host Availability - TxDOT CSC Host shall be available to receive information from Developer on a 24X7 basis (excluding scheduled maintenance and failures due to non-TxDOT equipment or failures outside TxDOT's control). Any fault that results in TxDOT CSC Host being unavailable (outside of scheduled maintenance and failures due to non-TxDOT equipment or failures outside TxDOT's control) rectified as soon as possible but no later than within 24 hours.	24 hours	4
15. Reconciled monthly financial reports under <u>Section 14(a)</u> shall be available by the 30th day following the month being reported upon.	30 days	4
16. Monthly Delinquent Payment Deduction report under <u>Section 14(d)</u> shall be available by the 30th day following the month being reported upon.	30 days	4
17. Monthly Non-Compliance Deduction report under Section 14(e) shall be available by the 30th day following the month being reported upon.	30 days	4
18. Determine and document disposition of 98% of customer disputes within five Business Days after notice of dispute received by telephone, by email, by written correspondence or in person. Rejection or request for further information due to	Within 5 business days	
insufficient information from customer constitutes a determination and disposition.	Within 5	3
19. For customer disputes determined to require a refund of an overcharge, issue 99% of customer refunds (and mail if appropriate) within five Business Days after resolution of dispute.	business days	3
20. For any customer correspondence requiring a written response, including requests for written receipts, 98% are provided a written response within three Business Days	Within 3 business days	2
21. Where relevant and to the extent not already included in TxDOT reports to the Developer, provide Developer with reports as discussed under <u>Sections 14(f) and 14(h)</u> .	N/A	5
22 TxDOT shall deliver to Developer such other information as Developer or any Lender may reasonably request (and that is reasonably available to TxDOT within the time frame for delivery contemplated for this Performance Standard) to operate the Facility and to evaluate TxDOT's compliance with and performance of this Tolling Services Agreement.	Within 3 business days	1
23. TxDOT will not charge a User more than once for a single transaction submitted to the TxDOT by the Developer.	100%	3
24. TxDOT will not charge a toll different than that identified by the Developer.	100%	3

## **Appendix A to Attachment 2**

# **Quality Monitoring Form**

(Refer to Item 13 of Attachment 2.)

	Monitoring Form for TxTag: InBound/ OutBound Calls							
	Agent Name Date and time of cal							
Agents Worklead Reason for ca								
	Evaluator Name Length of call							
Date of Evalua	ıtion	13 ID Number						
	and Company							
		Score: 100 Must score a 85	5% or hig	gher to	Dass			
	<u>م</u>	stomer Service Skills	Yes	No	Points			
	Cus		<b></b>	<del></del>				
<u> </u>	1	Immediately ready for the call	<u> </u>		4			
ķ	2	Used the correct greeting and closing. Includes proper branding	<u> </u>		4			
(i)	3	Addressed the customer in a professional manner and tone	<b>2</b>	<del> </del>	4			
Customer Service Skills		Utilized correct and professional business speech and ettiquette	<u> </u>		4			
ě		Addressed oustomer by name at least once throughout the call	<u> </u>		4			
i i	6	Used polite and professional word choices	<u> </u>		4			
Ē	1	Used assurance statements to express ownership, willingness to assist and control	<b>9</b>	<u> </u>	4			
T T T		Acknowledged the customer's need, issue or concern (Empathy)	V		4			
ű		Active listening	V		4			
		Asked appropriate probing (fact finding) questions	✓		4			
	11	Promoted the website and IVR	✓		4			
					44			
	Pro	cedures/Technical Components	Yes	No	Points			
s &	1	Did the CSR correctly advise the primary contact to update the Challenge Q&A online?	V		4			
ure iic≀	2	Searched for Previous Acct/ SR or Created New Acct/ SR When Required	V		4			
Procedures & Technical Components	_	Effective use of systems and tools	V		4			
Ter	4	Followed proper procedures; i.e. HOLD, escalation, Transfer, SR Creation, IOP	V		4			
a u		Documentation is thorough; it appropriately and accurately reflects the interaction	V		4			
	6	Maintained a positive attitude & behavior towards TxBoT Policies & Procedures   ✓ □ 4						
		and the second of the second o			24			
lan S	Cor	npliance Items	Yes	No	Points			
Complian ce Items		Did the CSR authenticate the caller/Confidentiality was maintained?	<b>S</b>		16			
تَ تَ		Did the CSR address and complete the Customer's concern? Did the CSR show a						
		wind and a state of the state o			32			

## **Interface Control Document**

[To be attached upon execution using the ICD then in use by TxDOT]

## List of Transponder Models Establishing Benchmark Transponder Performance

[To be attached upon execution listing transponder models then generally accepted by TxDOT as benchmarks for performance]

[Reserved.]

[Reserved.]

# Initial Designation of Authorized Representatives

For TxDOT:	
Name:	_
Title	_
Address:	<u>.</u>
Office Tel:	<del></del>
Mobile Tel:	_
Fax:	_
Email:	<u>.</u>
For Developer:	
Name:	-
Title:	<del>-</del>
Address:	
Office Tel:	_
Mobile Tel:	_
Fax:	<u>-</u> .
Email:	

# **Example of Calculation of Delinquent Payment Deduction**

	Typical Mont	thly Delinquent Paymen	t Deduction		
Month:	December, 2007				
LIBOR on 12/1/07	8%				
LIBOR + 400 basis		(100 Basis points =			
points	12%	1%)			
					<u>Delinguent</u>
			<u>Number</u>		<u>Payment</u>
Business Date	<u>Due Date</u>	Payment Date	<u>of Days</u>	<u>Amount</u>	<u>Deduction</u>
12/3/2007	12/5/2007	12/6/2007	1	\$100,000.00	\$32.88
12/4/2007	12/6/2007	12/8/2007	2	\$125,000.00	\$82.19
				Total	\$115.07

# **Example of Calculation of Non-Compliance Deduction**

	Typical No	n-Compliance Deduction Calculation
TxDOT Compensation	\$100,000.00	
Monthly Non-Compliance Reduction %	2%	For this Sample Month, the TxDOT was non-compliant in performance which resulted in 18 Non-Compliance points. The Reduction % is then 2%.
Monthly Non-Compliance Deduction	\$2,000.00	